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Item 1. Financial Statements.

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Total current assets
Preneed cemetery trust investments
Preneed funeral trust investments
Preneed cemetery receivables, net
Receivables from preneed trusts, net
Property, plant and equipment, net
Cemetery property, net
Goodwill
Intangible and other non-current assets, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Cemetery perpetual care trust investments
Total assets

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

CARRIAGE SERVICES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(in thousands, except share data)

(unaudited)

December 31, 2019

September 30, 2020

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Current portion of debt and lease obligations
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Convertible subordinated notes due 2021
Total current liabilities
Acquisition debt, net of current portion
Credit facility
Convertible subordinated notes due 2021
Senior notes due 2026
Obligations under finance leases, net of current portion

Obligations under operating leases, net of current portion

Deferred preneed cemetery revenue
Deferred preneed funeral revenue
Deferred tax liability
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred preneed cemetery receipts held in trust
Deferred preneed funeral receipts held in trust
Care trusts’ corpus
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies:
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 80,000,000 shares authorized and 25,880,362 and 25,995,167
shares issued at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings

Treasury stock, at cost; 8,025,339 at both December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

The accompanying condensed notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

$ 716 $ 725
21,478 22,277
6,989 7,382
10,667 2,253
39,850 32,637
72,382 75,580
96,335 92,823
20,173 20,324
18,024 17,794
279,200 270,371
87,032 101,333
398,292 394,483
32,116 29,634
22,304 20,846
64,047 64,824

$ 1,129,755  $ 1,120,649
$ 3,150 $ 3,540
8,413 9,713
24,026 32,651
— 2,522
35,589 48,426
5,658 4,957
82,182 54,745
5,971 —
395,447 395,816
5,854 5,615
21,533 19,952
46,569 47,666
29,145 28,900
41,368 46,628
1,737 2,125
72,382 75,580
96,335 92,823
63,416 64,620
903,186 887,853
259 260
242,147 240,648
86,213 93,938
(102,050) (102,050)
226,569 232,796
$ 1,129,755  $ 1,120,649




CARRIAGE SERVICES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(unaudited and in thousands, except per share data)

Three months ended September 30,

Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020 2019 2020
Revenue:
Service revenue $ 34,133  $ 41,218  $ 105,444  $ 120,830
Property and merchandise revenue 28,002 36,298 85,458 100,211
Other revenue 3,990 6,877 12,056 18,319
66,125 84,393 202,958 239,360
Field costs and expenses:
Cost of service 18,011 19,945 54,062 59,624
Cost of merchandise 21,972 25,886 66,544 75,561
Cemetery property amortization 972 1,471 2,990 3,445
Field depreciation expense 3,106 3,233 9,250 9,770
Regional and unallocated funeral and cemetery costs 3,597 4,731 10,008 11,204
Other expenses 411 1,253 1,197 3,551
48,069 56,519 144,051 163,155
Gross profit 18,056 27,874 58,907 76,205
Corporate costs and expenses:
General, administrative and other 5,755 6,134 17,059 18,620
Home office depreciation and amortization 357 329 1,115 1,065
Net loss on divestitures and impairments charges 4,593 4,917 4,604 19,610
Operating income 7,351 16,494 36,129 36,910
Interest expense (6,283) (8,007) (18,907) (24,787)
Accretion of discount on convertible subordinated notes (61) (69) (178) (200)
Net loss on early extinguishment of debt — (6) — (6)
Other, net 517 (28) 690 (34)
Income before income taxes 1,524 8,384 17,734 11,883
Expense for income taxes (930) (2,851) (5,551) (4,014)
Tax adjustment related to discrete items (17) (8) (219) (144)
Total expense for income taxes (947) (2,859) (5,770) (4,158)
Net income $ 577 $ 5525 $ 11,964 $ 7,725
Basic earnings per common share: $ 0.03 031 $ 0.66 § 0.43
Diluted earnings per common share: $ 0.03 031 $ 066 $ 0.43
Dividends declared per common share: $ 0.075 § 0.0875 § 0225 § 0.2375
Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares
outstanding:
Basic 17,737 17,895 17,917 17,853
Diluted 17,768 17,932 17,951 17,893

The accompanying condensed notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.



CARRIAGE SERVICES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(unaudited and in thousands)

Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 11,964 $ 7,725
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 13,355 14,280
Provision for bad debt and credit losses 1,188 1,837
Stock-based compensation expense 1,616 2,473
Deferred income tax expense 1,270 4,750
Amortization of deferred financing costs 289 592
Amortization of capitalized commissions on preneed contracts 417 430
Accretion of discount on convertible subordinated notes 178 200
Accretion of debt discount, net of debt premium on senior notes 366 228
Net loss on divestitures and impairments charges 4,604 19,610
Net loss on sale of other assets 193 245
Gain on insurance reimbursements (638) (54)
Net loss on extinguishment of debt — 6
Other 121 19
Changes in operating assets and liabilities that provided (required) cash:
Accounts and preneed receivables (2,495) (436)
Inventories, prepaid and other current assets 1,138 3,241
Intangible and other non-current assets (241) (225)
Preneed funeral and cemetery trust investments (4,376) (2,781)
Accounts payable (3,852) 1,155
Accrued and other liabilities 6,749 9,770
Deferred preneed funeral and cemetery revenue 804 1,319
Deferred preneed funeral and cemetery receipts held in trust 3411 3,438
Net cash provided by operating activities 36,061 67,822
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions — (28,011)
Proceeds from insurance reimbursements 1,247 97
Proceeds from divestitures and sale of other assets 967 7,416
Capital expenditures (11,479) (10,034)
Net cash used in investing activities (9,265) (30,532)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings from the credit facility 28,200 89,300
Payments against the credit facility (37,300) (117,100)
Payment of debt issuance costs related to long-term debt (113) —
Repurchase of the 2.75% convertible subordinated notes 27 (4,563)
Payment of transaction costs related to the repurchase of the 2.75% convertible subordinated notes — (12)
Payments of debt issuance costs related to the 6.625% senior notes — (66)
Payments on acquisition debt and obligations under finance leases (1,370) (1,060)
Payments on contingent consideration recorded at acquisition date (162) (169)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options and employee stock purchase plan contributions 1,155 921
Taxes paid on restricted stock vestings and exercise of non-qualified options (194) (281)
Dividends paid on common stock (4,061) (4,251)
Purchase of treasury stock (7,756) —
Net cash used in financing activities (21,628) (37,281)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,168 9
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 644 716
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 5,812 $ 725

The accompanying condensed notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.



Balance — June 30, 2019
Net income
Issuance of common stock

Cancellation and retirement of restricted common
stock and stock options

Stock-based compensation expense
Dividends on common stock
Balance — September 30, 2019

Balance — June 30, 2020
Net income
Issuance of common stock to employees
Issuance of common stock to directors
Exercise of stock options

Cancellation and retirement of restricted common
stock and stock options

Stock-based compensation expense

Dividends on common stock

Convertible notes repurchase
Balance — September 30, 2020

CARRIAGE SERVICES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(unaudited and in thousands)

Three months ended September 30, 2019

Additional
Shares Common Paid-in Retained Treasury
Outstanding Stock Capital Earnings Stock Total
17,812 § 258§ 243285 $ 83,067 $ (102,050) $ 224,560
— — — 577 — 577
18 1 211 — — 212
“) — (16) — — (16)
— — 513 — — 513
— — (1,336) — — (1,336)
17,826 § 259 § 242,657 $ 83,644 $ (102,050) $ 224,510
Three months ended September 30, 2020
Additional
Shares Common Paid-in Retained Treasury
Outstanding Stock Capital Earnings Stock Total
17,934 $ 260 $ 241,868 $ 88,413 $§ (102,050) $ 228,491
— — — 5,525 — 5,525
16 — 297 — — 297
9 — 197 — — 197
12 — 31) — — 31)
(&) — (16) — — (16)
— — 730 — — 730
— — (1,569) — — (1,569)
— — (828) — — (828)
17,970 $ 260 $ 240,648 $ 93938 $§ (102,050) $ 232,796

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.



CARRIAGE SERVICES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(unaudited and in thousands)

Nine months ended September 30, 2019

Additional
Shares Common Paid-in Retained Treasury
Outstanding Stock Capital Earnings Stock Total

Balance — December 31, 2018 18,078 $ 257 $ 243,849 $ 71,680 $ (94,294) $ 221,492

Net income — — — 11,964 — 11,964

Issuance of common stock 58 1 683 — — 684

Exercise of stock options 71 1 471 — — 472

Issuance of restricted common stock 25 — — — — —

Cancellation and retirement of restricted common

stock and stock options (21) — (195) — — (195)

Stock-based compensation expense — — 1,616 — — 1,616

Dividends on common stock — — (4,061) — — (4,061)

Treasury stock acquired (400) — — — (7,756) (7,756)

Other 15 — 294 — — 294
Balance — September 30, 2019 17,826 $ 259 $ 242,657 $ 83,644 § (102,050) $ 224,510

Nine months ended September 30, 2020
Additional
Shares Common Paid-in Retained Treasury
Outstanding Stock Capital Earnings Stock Total

Balance — December 31, 2019 17,855 $ 259 $ 242,147 $ 86,213 $§ (102,050) $ 226,569

Net income — — — 7,725 — 7,725

Issuance of common stock to employees 60 1 920 — — 921

Issuance of common stock to directors 26 — 491 — — 491

Exercise of stock options 12 — 31 — — (31)

Issuance of restricted common stock 10 — — — — —

Cancellation and retirement of restricted common

stock and stock options (11) — (250) — — (250)

Stock-based compensation expense — — 1,982 — — 1,982

Dividends on common stock — — (4,251) — — (4,251)

Convertible notes repurchase — — (828) — — (828)

Other 18 — 468 — — 468
Balance — September 30, 2020 17,970 $ 260 $ 240,648 $ 93,938 $ (102,050) $ 232,796

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.



CARRIAGE SERVICES, INC.

CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company

EE3

Carriage Services, Inc. (“Carriage,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) is a leading provider of funeral and cemetery services and merchandise in
the United States. As of September 30, 2020, we operated 180 funeral homes in 27 states and 32 cemeteries in 12 states. Our operations are reported in two
business segments: Funeral Home Operations, which currently account for approximately 75% of our revenue and Cemetery Operations, which currently
account for approximately 25% of our revenue.

Our funeral home operations are principally service businesses that generate revenue from sales of burial and cremation services and related
merchandise, such as caskets and urns. Funeral services include consultation, the removal and preparation of remains, the use of funeral home facilities for
visitation and remembrance services and transportation services. We provide funeral services and products on both an “atneed” (time of death) and
“preneed” (planned prior to death) basis.

Our cemetery operations generate revenue primarily through sales of cemetery interment rights (primarily grave sites, lawn crypts, mausoleum spaces
and niches), related cemetery merchandise (such as outer burial containers, memorial markers and floral placements) and services (interments, inurnments
and installation of cemetery merchandise). We provide cemetery services and products on both an atneed and preneed basis.

Principles of Consolidation and Interim Condensed Disclosures

Our unaudited consolidated financial statements include the Company and its subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated. Our interim consolidated financial statements are unaudited but include all adjustments, which consist of normal, recurring accruals, that are
necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position and results of operations as of and for the interim periods presented. Our unaudited consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in a manner consistent with the accounting principles described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2019 unless otherwise disclosed herein, and should be read in conjunction therewith.

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the 2019 novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”), to be a pandemic, which has spread
across the globe and is impacting worldwide economic activity. In light of the recent developments relating to COVID-19, the Company has evaluated the
impact of COVID-19 on our Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to the current period financial statement presentation with no effect on
our previously reported results of operations, consolidated financial position, or cash flows.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition, realization
of accounts receivable, goodwill, intangible assets, property and equipment and deferred tax assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical
experience, third-party data and assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of these considerations form the basis
for making judgments about the amount and timing of revenue and expenses, the carrying value of assets and the recorded amounts of liabilities. Actual
results may differ from these estimates and such estimates may change if the underlying conditions or assumptions change. Historical performance should
not be viewed as indicative of future performance, as there can be no assurance that our results of operations will be consistent from year to year.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.



Funeral and Cemetery Receivables

Our funeral receivables are recorded in Accounts Receivable, net and primarily consist of amounts due for funeral services already performed. Our
cemetery receivables generally consist of preneed sales of cemetery interment rights and related products and services, which are typically financed
through interest-bearing installment sales contracts, generally with terms of up to five years, with such interest income reflected as Other revenue. In
substantially all cases, we receive an initial down payment at the time the contract is signed. We do not accrue interest on preneed receivables if they are
not paid in accordance with the contractual payment terms given the nature of our merchandise and services, the nature of our contracts with customers and
the timing of the delivery of our services. Atneed cemetery receivables and preneed cemetery receivables with payments expected to be received within one
year from the balance sheet date are recorded in Accounts receivable, net. Preneed cemetery receivables with payments expected to be received beyond one
year from the balance sheet date are recorded in Preneed cemetery receivables, net.

For our funeral receivables, we have a collections policy where statements are sent to the customer at 30 days past due. Past due notification letters
are sent at 45 days and continue until payment is received or the contract is placed with a third-party collections agency. For our preneed cemetery
receivables, we have a collections policy where past due notification letters are sent to the customer beginning at 15 days past due and periodically
thereafter until the contract is cancelled or payment is received.

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”), Financial Instruments — Credit
Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments and subsequent amendments collectively known as (“Topic 326”). Topic 326 applies to all
entities holding financial assets measured at amortized cost, including loans, trade and financed receivables and other financial instruments. The guidance
introduces a new credit reserving model known as Current Expected Credit Loss (“CECL”), which requires earlier recognition of credit losses, while also
providing additional transparency about credit risk. The CECL model requires all expected credit losses to be measured based on historical experience,
current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts about collectability. Prior to adoption of Topic 326, we provided allowances for bad debt and
contract cancellations on our receivables based on an analysis of historical trends of collection activity.

For both funeral and cemetery receivables, we determine our allowance for credit losses by using a loss-rate methodology, in which we assess our
historical write-oft of receivables against our total receivables over several years. From this historical loss-rate approach, we also consider the current and
forecasted economic conditions expected to be in place over the life of our receivables. These estimates are impacted by a number of factors, including
changes in the economy, demographics and competition in our local communities. We monitor our ongoing credit exposure through an active review of our
customers’ receivables balance against contract terms and due dates. Our activities include timely performance of our accounts receivable reconciliations,
assessment of our aging of receivables, dispute resolution and payment confirmation. We will also monitor any change in our historical write-off of
receivables utilized in our loss-rate methodology and assess forecasted changes in market conditions within our credit reserve.

Due to the economic impact of COVID-19, we decreased our allowance for credit losses on our receivables by $0.1 million during the three months
ended September 30, 2020 and increased our allowance for credit losses on our receivables by $0.5 million during the nine months ended September 30,
2020.

See Notes 2 and 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements herein for additional information related the adoption of Topic 326 on January 1, 2020
and the additional disclosures required.

Inventory

Inventory consists primarily of caskets, outer burial containers and cemetery monuments and markers and is recorded at the lower of its cost basis
(determined by the specific identification method) or net realizable value.

Business Combinations

Tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at fair value and goodwill is recognized for any difference between the
price of the acquisition and fair value. We recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the
acquisition date, measured at the fair value as of that date. Acquisition related costs are recognized separately from the acquisition and are expensed as
incurred. We customarily estimate related transaction costs known at closing. To the extent that information not available to us at the closing date
subsequently becomes available during the allocation period, we may adjust goodwill, intangible assets, assets or liabilities associated with the acquisition.

See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements herein for further information related to our acquisitions.



Divested Operations

Prior to divesting a funeral home or cemetery, we first determine whether the sale of the net assets and activities (together referred to as a “set”)
qualifies as a business. First, we perform a screen test to determine if the set is not a business. The principle of the screen is that a set is not a business if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets sold resides in a single asset or group of similar assets. If the screen is not met then we evaluate whether
the set has both inputs and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. When both inputs and a substantive
process are present then the set is determined to be a business and we apply the guidance in ASC 350 — Intangibles — Goodwill and Other to determine the
accounting treatment of goodwill for that set (see discussion of Goodwill below). Goodwill is not allocated to the sale if the set is not considered to be a
business.

During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we sold six funeral homes for $7.3 million. During 2019, we ceased to operate a funeral home
whose lease expired and sold a funeral home for $0.9 million. The operating results of these divested funeral homes are reflected in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations. We continually review our businesses to optimize the sustainable earning power and return on our invested capital.

See Notes 4, 5 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements herein for additional information concerning our divestitures.

Goodwill

The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of funeral home businesses and cemeteries acquired is recorded as
goodwill. Goodwill has an indefinite life and is not subject to amortization. As such, we test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis as of August 31%
each year. In addition to our annual test, we assess the impairment of goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of a reporting unit may be greater than fair value. Factors that could trigger an interim impairment review include, but are not limited to, significant
negative industry or economic trends and significant adverse changes in the business climate, which may be indicated by a decline in our market
capitalization or decline in operating results.

As a result of economic conditions caused by COVID-19, we performed a quantitative assessment of our goodwill at March 31, 2020 and we
recorded an impairment for goodwill of $13.6 million during the quarter ended March 31, 2020, as the carrying amount of our funeral homes in the Eastern
Region Reporting Unit exceeded the fair value. The discounted cash flow valuation uses projections of future cash flows and includes assumptions
concerning future operating performance and economic conditions that may differ from actual future cash flows.

We performed our annual goodwill impairment test as of August 31, 2020. Under current guidance,we are permitted to first assess qualitative factors
to determine whether it is more-likely-than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is
necessary to perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. For our 2020 annual impairment test, we performed a qualitative assessment and determined
that there were no factors that would indicate the need to perform an additional quantitative goodwill impairment test. We concluded that it is more-likely-
than not that the fair value of our reporting units is greater than their carrying value and thus there was no additional impairment to goodwill.

When we divest a portion of a reporting unit that constitutes a business in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”), we allocate goodwill associated with that business to be included in the gain or loss on divestiture. When divesting a business, goodwill is
allocated based on the relative fair values of the business being divested and the portion of the reporting unit that will be retained. Additionally, after each
divestiture, we will test the goodwill remaining in the portion of the reporting unit to be retained for impairment using a qualitative assessment unless we
deem a quantitative assessment to be appropriate.

Subsequent to our divestitures during the three months ended September 30, 2020, we performed a qualitative assessment on the goodwill retained in
our Reporting Units and concluded that is more-likely-than not that the fair value of our reporting units is greater than their carrying value and thus there
was no additional impairment to goodwill.

See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional information related to our goodwill.

Intangible Assets

Our intangible assets include tradenames resulting from acquisitions and are included in Intangible and other non-current assets, net on our
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Our tradenames are considered to have an indefinite life and are not subject to amortization. As such, we test our intangible
assets for impairment on an annual basis as of August 31% each year. In addition to our annual test, we assess the impairment of intangible assets whenever
certain events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the intangible asset may be greater than the fair value. Factors that could
trigger an interim impairment

-10 -



review include, but are not limited to, significant under-performance relative to historical or projected future operating results and significant negative
industry or economic trends.

As a result of economic conditions caused by COVID-19, we performed a quantitative assessment of our tradenames at March 31, 2020 and we
recorded an impairment for certain of our tradenames of $1.1 million during the quarter ended March 31, 2020 as the carrying amount of these tradenames
exceeded the fair value. In determining the fair value of the tradenames, we used the relief from royalty method whereby we determine the fair value of the
assets by discounting the cash flows that represent a savings over having to pay a royalty fee for use of the tradenames. The discounted cash flow valuation
uses projections of future cash flows and includes assumptions concerning future operating performance and economic conditions that may differ from
actual future cash flows and the determination and application of an appropriate royalty rate and discount rate.

We performed our annual intangible assets impairment test as of August 31, 2020. Under current guidance, we are permitted to first assess qualitative
factors to determine whether it is more-likely-than not that the fair value of the tradename is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining
whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative impairment test. For our 2020 annual impairment test, we performed a qualitative assessment and
determined that there were no factors that would indicate the need to perform an additional quantitative impairment test. We concluded that it is more-
likely-than not that the fair value of our intangible assets is greater than its carrying value and thus there was no additional impairment to our intangible
assets.

See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional information related to our intangible assets.

Preneed and Perpetual Care Trust Funds

Our preneed and perpetual care trust funds are reported in accordance with the principles of consolidating Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs”). In the
case of preneed trusts, the customers are the legal beneficiaries. In the case of perpetual care trusts, we do not have a right to access the corpus in the
perpetual care trusts. We have recognized financial interests of third parties in the trust funds in our financial statements as Deferred preneed funeral and
cemetery receipts held in trust and Care trusts’ corpus.

The fixed income investments of such trust funds are classified as available-for-sale and are reported at fair market value; therefore, the unrealized
gains and losses, as well as accumulated and undistributed income and realized gains and losses are recorded to Deferred preneed funeral and cemetery
receipts held in trust and Care trusts’ corpus on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. Topic 326 made changes to the accounting for available-for-sale debt
securities. One such change is to require credit losses to be presented as an allowance rather than as a write-down on available-for-sale debt securities
management does not intend to sell or believes that it is more likely than not will be required to sell.

Our future obligations to deliver merchandise and services are reported at estimated settlement amounts. Preneed funeral and cemetery trust
investments are reduced by the trust investment earnings that we have been allowed to withdraw in certain states prior to maturity. These earnings, along
with preneed contract collections not required to be placed in trust, are recorded in Deferred preneed funeral revenue and Deferred preneed cemetery
revenue until the service is performed or the merchandise is delivered.

In accordance with respective state laws, we are required to deposit a specified amount into perpetual and memorial care trust funds for each
interment right and certain memorials sold. Income from the trust funds is distributed to us and used to provide for the care and maintenance of the
cemeteries and mausoleums. Such trust fund income is recognized as revenue when realized by the trust and distributable to us. We are restricted from
withdrawing any of the principal balances of these funds.

An enterprise is required to perform an analysis to determine whether the enterprise’s variable interest(s) give it a controlling financial interest in a
VIE. This analysis identifies the primary beneficiary of a VIE as the enterprise that has both the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most
significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE or
the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Our analysis continues to support our position as the primary
beneficiary in the majority of our funeral and cemetery trust funds.

See Notes 7 and 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements herein for additional information related to our preneed and perpetual care trust funds.
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Fair Value Measurements

In August 2018, the FASB amended “Fair Value Measurements” to modify the disclosure requirements related to fair value. The amendment removes
requirements to disclose (1) the amount of and reasons for transfers between Levels 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy, (2) our policy related to the timing
of transfers between levels, and (3) the valuation processes used in Level 3 measurements. It clarifies that the narrative disclosure of the effect of changes
in Level 3 inputs should be based on changes that could occur at the reporting date. The amendment adds a requirement to disclose the range and weighted
average of the significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 measurements. We adopted the new standard as of January 1, 2020 and it had no impact on
our consolidated results of operations, consolidated financial position, and cash flows.

See Notes 7 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements herein for additional required disclosures related to our fair value measurement of our
financial assets and liabilities.

Capitalized Commissions on Preneed Contracts

We capitalize sales commissions and other direct selling costs related to preneed cemetery merchandise and services and preneed funeral trust
contracts as these costs are incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. Our capitalized commissions on preneed contracts
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average maturity period for our preneed cemetery merchandise and services contracts and preneed funeral
trust contracts, of eight and ten years, respectively.

The selling costs related to the sales of cemetery interment rights, which include real property and other costs related to cemetery development
activities, continue to be expensed using the specific identification method in the period in which the sale of the cemetery interment right is recognized as
revenue. The selling costs related to preneed funeral insurance contracts continue to be expensed in the period incurred as these contracts are not included
on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements herein for additional information related to our capitalized commissions on preneed contracts.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including equipment under finance leases) are stated at cost. The costs of ordinary maintenance and repairs are
charged to operations as incurred, while renewals and major replacements that extend the useful economic life of the asset are capitalized. Depreciation of
property, plant and equipment (including equipment under finance leases) is computed based on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets.

Property, plant and equipment is comprised of the following at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Land $ 84,608 § 83,328
Buildings and improvements 242,641 240,516
Furniture, equipment and automobiles 88,046 90,125
Property, plant and equipment, at cost 415,295 413,969
Less: accumulated depreciation (136,095) (143,598)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 279,200 $ 270,371

We acquired $1.7 million of property, plant and equipment related to our acquisition that closed on January 3, 2020, described in Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included herein. During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we divested six funeral homes that had a carrying
value of property, plant and equipment of $6.5 million, which was included in the gain or loss on the sale of divestitures and recorded in Net loss on
divestitures and impairment charges on our Consolidated Statements of Operations, described in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included
herein. In addition, our growth and maintenance capital expenditures totaled $10.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, for property,
plant, equipment and cemetery development.

We recorded depreciation expense of $3.5 million for both the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 and $10.4 million and $10.8 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

Long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment subject to depreciation and amortization, are reviewed for impairment at least annually or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable in accordance with ASC 360 — Property,
Plant and Equipment. In connection with the goodwill impairment recorded for the Eastern Region Reporting Unit during the quarter ended March 31,
2020, we also evaluated the long-lived assets of our funeral homes in the Eastern Region Reporting Unit and concluded that there was no impairment to our
long-lived
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assets. Subsequent to our impairment tests performed at March 31, 2020, we did not identify any new factors or events that would trigger us to perform an
additional assessment of our long-lived assets.

Cemetery Property

When we acquire a cemetery, we utilize an internal and external approach to determine the fair value of the cemetery property. From an external
perspective, we obtain an accredited appraisal to provide reasonable assurance for property existence, property availability (unrestricted) for development,
property lines, available spaces to sell, identifiable obstacles or easements and general valuation inclusive of known variables in that market. From an
internal perspective, we conduct a detailed analysis of the acquired cemetery property using other cemeteries in our portfolio as a benchmark. This provides
the added benefit of relevant data that is not available to third party appraisers. Through this thorough internal process, the Company is able to identify
viable costs of property based on historical experience, particular markets and demographics, reasonable margins, practical retail prices and park
infrastructure and condition.

Cemetery property was $87.0 million and $101.3 million, net of accumulated amortization of $41.7 million and $45.1 million at December 31, 2019
and September 30, 2020, respectively. When cemetery property is sold, the value of the cemetery property (interment right costs) is expensed as
amortization using the specific identification method in the period in which the sale of the interment right is recognized as revenue. We recorded
amortization expense for cemetery interment rights of $1.0 million and $1.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively
and $3.0 million and $3.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

Leases

We have operating and finance leases. We lease certain office facilities, certain funeral homes and equipment under operating leases with original
terms ranging from one to nineteen years. Many leases include one or more options to renew, some of which include options to extend the leases for up to
26 years. We lease certain funeral homes under finance leases with original terms ranging from ten to forty years. As our leases do not provide an implicit
interest rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of lease
payments. We do not have lease agreements with residual value guarantees, sale-leaseback terms, material restrictive covenants or related parties. We do
not have any material sublease arrangements. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception based on the facts and circumstances of the agreement.
A right-of-use (“ROU”) asset represents our right to use the underlying asset for the lease term and the lease liability represents our obligation to make
lease payments arising from the lease.

Operating lease ROU assets are included in Operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities are included in Current portion of
operating lease obligations and Obligations under operating leases, net of current portion on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. Finance lease ROU assets
are included in Property, plant and equipment, net and finance lease liabilities are included in Current portion of finance lease obligations and Obligations
under finance leases, net of current portion on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

In connection with the goodwill and intangible impairment tests performed at March 31, 2020, we also evaluated the operating and finance leases of
our funeral homes in the Eastern Reporting Unit and concluded that there was no impairment to our operating and finance lease assets. Subsequent to our
impairment tests performed at March 31, 2020, we did not identify any new factors or events that would trigger us to perform an additional assessment of
our operating and finance leases.

See Notes 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional information related to our leases.

Equity Plans and Stock-Based Compensation

We have equity-based employee and director compensation plans under which we have granted stock, stock options and performance awards. We also
have an employee stock purchase plan (the “ESPP”). We recognize compensation expense in an amount equal to the fair value of the stock-based awards
expected to vest or to be purchased over the requisite service period. We recognize the effect of forfeitures in compensation cost when they occur and any
previously recognized compensation cost for an award is reversed in the period that the award is forfeited.

Fair value is determined on the date of the grant. The fair value of restricted stock is determined using the stock price on the grant date. The fair value
of options or awards containing options is determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The fair value of the performance awards related to market
performance conditions is determined using a Monte-Carlo simulation pricing model. The fair value of the ESPP is determined based on the discount
element offered to employees and the embedded option element, which is determined using an option calculation model.

See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional information related to our equity plans and stock-based
compensation.
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Revenue Recognition

Funeral and Cemetery Operations Revenue is recognized when control of the merchandise or services is transferred to the customer. Our performance
obligations include the delivery of funeral and cemetery merchandise and services and cemetery property interment rights. Control transfers when
merchandise is delivered or services are performed. For cemetery property interment rights, control transfers to the customer when the property is
developed and the interment right has been sold and can no longer be marketed or sold to another customer. Sales taxes collected are recognized on a net
basis in our consolidated financial statements. On our atneed contracts, we generally deliver the merchandise and perform the services at the time of need.

Memorial services frequently include performance obligations to direct the service, provide facilities and motor vehicles, catering, flowers, and
stationary products. All other performance obligations on these contracts, including arrangement, removal, preparation, embalming, cremation, interment,
and delivery of urns and caskets and related memorialization merchandise are fulfilled at the time of need. Personalized marker merchandise and marker
installation services sold on atneed contracts are recognized when control is transferred to the customer, generally when the marker is delivered and
installed in the cemetery.

Some of our contracts with customers include multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, we allocate the transaction price to each
performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price, which is based on prices charged to customers per our general price list. Packages for
service and ancillary items are offered to help the customer make decisions during emotional and stressful times. Package discounts are reflected net in
Revenue. We recognize revenue when the merchandise is transferred or the service is performed, in satisfaction of the corresponding performance
obligation. Sales taxes collected are recognized on a net basis in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Ancillary funeral service revenue, which is recorded in Other revenue, represents revenue from our flower shop, pet cremation and online cremation
businesses in Texas.

The earnings from our preneed trust investments, as well as trust management fees charged by our wholly-owned registered investment advisory firm
(“CSV RIA”) are recorded in Other revenue. As of September 30, 2020, CSV RIA provided investment management and advisory services to
approximately 80% of our trust assets, for a fee based on the market value of trust assets. Under state trust laws, we are allowed to charge the trust a fee for
advising on the investment of the trust assets and these fees are recognized as income in the period in which services are provided.

Balances due on undelivered preneed funeral trust contracts have been reclassified to reduce Deferred preneed funeral revenue on our Consolidated
Balance Sheet of $8.9 million and $8.0 million at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020, respectively. As these performance obligations are to be
completed after the date of death, we cannot quantify the recognition of revenue in future periods. However, we estimate an average maturity period of ten
years for preneed funeral contracts.

Balances due from customers on delivered preneed cemetery contracts are included in Accounts receivable, net and Preneed cemetery receivables, net
on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. Balances due on undelivered preneed cemetery contracts have been reclassified to reduce Deferred preneed cemetery
revenue on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. The transaction price allocated to preneed merchandise and service performance obligations that were
unfulfilled were $4.8 million and $7.2 million at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020, respectively. As these performance obligations are to be
completed after the date of death, we cannot quantify the recognition of revenue in future periods. However, we estimate an average maturity period of
eight years for preneed cemetery contracts.

See Notes 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements herein for additional information related to revenue.

Income Taxes

We and our subsidiaries file a consolidated U. S. federal income tax return, separate income tax returns in 15 states in which we operate and
combined or unitary income tax returns in 14 states in which we operate. We record deferred taxes for temporary differences between the tax basis and
financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities. We classify our deferred tax liabilities and assets as non-current on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

We record a valuation allowance to reflect the estimated amount of deferred tax assets for which realization is uncertain. Management reviews the
valuation allowance at the end of each quarter and makes adjustments if it is determined that it is more likely than not that the tax benefits will be realized.

We analyze tax benefits for uncertain tax positions and how they are to be recognized, measured, and derecognized in the financial statements;
provide certain disclosures of uncertain tax matters; and specify how reserves for uncertain tax positions should be classified on our Consolidated Balance
Sheet.
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The recently passed Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) has certain provisions that are applicable to the
Company as follows:

(i) allowing net operating losses (“NOLs”) arising in 2018, 2019 and 2020 to be carried back five years;
(ii) increasing the taxable income threshold on the interest deduction from 30% to 50% for tax years beginning in 2019 and 2020;

(iii) suspending payment requirements for the 6.2% employer portion of Social Security taxes from the date of enactment through the end of 2020,
with half the balance due by the end of 2021, and the other half due by the end of 2022; and

(iv) our ability to receive employee retention credits up to $5,000 for paying wages to employees who are unable to work, while business operations
are suspended.

In connection with the CARES Act, we filed a claim for a refund on June 30, 2020, to carryback the net operating losses generated in the tax year
ending December 31, 2018. The refund claim from the 2018 tax year was received on August 7, 2020, and we have included the impact in our current
provision. In an effort to maximize the expected benefits afforded by the CARES Act, we plan to amend our 2018 tax return to include the additional first
year depreciation deduction for qualified improvement property. The majority of the net operating losses generated in 2018 are the result of filing non-
automatic accounting method changes relating to the recognition of revenue from our cemetery property and merchandise and services sales. Due to the
uncertainty of the timing of receiving Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) approval for non-automatic accounting method changes, a reserve has been
recorded against the benefit derived from this carrying back that the net operating losses generated; therefore, for the nine months ended September 30,
2020, the reserve for uncertain tax positions was $2.9 million. There was no reserve recorded at September 30, 2019.

Additionally, we plan to file a claim for a refund for the net operating losses generated in the tax year ending December 31, 2019, in the fourth quarter
of 2020.

Income tax expense during interim periods is based on our forecasted annual effective tax rate plus any discrete items, which are recorded in the
period in which they occur. Discrete items include, but are not limited to, such events as changes in estimates due to finalization of income tax returns, tax
audit settlements, tax effects of exercised or vested stock-based awards and increases or decreases in valuation allowances on deferred tax assets.

Our income tax expense was $0.9 million and $2.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively and $5.8 million
and $4.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively. Our operating tax rate before discrete items was 61.0% and 34.0%
for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively and 31.3% and 33.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020,
respectively.

The increase in our overall effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 is due to the unfavorable tax impact of impairment of
goodwill and other intangibles recorded in the first quarter of 2020 for businesses that were previously acquired through stock acquisitions.

Computation of Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share
is computed using the weighted average number of common and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive common
equivalent shares consist of stock options.

Share-based awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents, whether paid or unpaid, are recognized as participating
securities and included in the computation of both basic and diluted earnings per share. Our grants of restricted stock awards to our employees and directors
are considered participating securities, and we have prepared our earnings per share calculations attributable to common stockholders to exclude
outstanding unvested restricted stock awards, using the two-class method, in both the basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding calculation.

See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for the additional information related to computation of earnings per share.

Subsequent Events

We have evaluated events and transactions during the period subsequent to September 30, 2020 through the date the financial statements were issued
for potential recognition or disclosure in the accompanying financial statements covered by this report.

See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional information related to our subsequent events.
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2. RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Financial Instruments - Credit Losses

On January 1, 2020, we adopted Topic 326 using the modified retrospective method and the impact was not material to our Consolidated Financial
Statements. See Notes 6 and 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements herein for additional disclosures required by Topic 326.

Income Taxes

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU, Income Taxes (“Topic 740”), to simplify the accounting for income taxes. The amendments in this update
are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. On January 1, 2020, we early adopted the provisions of this
ASU using the prospective method and the impact was not material to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
Reference Rate Reform

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU, Reference Rate Reform (“Topic 848”) to provide optional guidance for a limited time to ease the potential
burden in accounting for reference rate reform. The new guidance provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging
relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The amendments apply only to contracts and hedging
relationships that reference London InterBank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or another reference rate expected to be discontinued due to reference rate reform.
These amendments are effective immediately and may be applied prospectively to contract modifications made and hedging relationships entered into or
evaluated on or before December 31, 2022. The Company did not utilize the optional expedients and exceptions provided by this ASU during the nine
months ended September 30, 2020.

3. ACQUISITIONS

On January 3, 2020, we acquired one funeral home and cemetery combination business in Lafayette, California for $33.0 million in cash, of which
$5.0 million was deposited in escrow in 2019 and $28.0 million was paid at closing in 2020. We acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain
operating liabilities of these businesses.

The pro forma impact of this acquisition on prior periods is not presented, as the impact is not significant to our reported results. The results of the
acquired business is reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Operations from the date of acquisition.

Subsequent to our initial purchase price allocation for this acquisition made during the first quarter of 2020, we have adjusted our purchase price
allocation based on additional information which became available prior to September 30, 2020. The following table summarizes the breakdown of the
purchase price allocation for these businesses (in thousands):

Initial Purchase Price Adjusted Purchase
Allocation Adjustments Price Allocation
Current assets $ 2,662 $ 1o07) $ 2,555
Preneed trust assets 9,089 — 9,089
Property, plant & equipment 1,720 — 1,720
Cemetery property 14,753 82 14,835
Goodwill 12,916 656 13,572
Intangible and other non-current assets 2,506 (628) 1,878
Assumed liabilities (489) — (489)
Deferred tax liability (527) 3) (530)
Preneed trust liabilities (9,089) — (9,089)
Deferred revenue (541) — (541)
Purchase price $ 33,000 $ — 33,000

The current assets primarily relate to preneed cemetery receivables. The intangible and other non-current assets relate to the fair value of tradenames.
The assumed liabilities primarily relate to the obligations associated with delivered preneed
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merchandise that was not paid for prior to acquisition. As of September 30, 2020, our accounting for cemetery receivables, cemetery property, deferred
revenue and deferred tax liabilities for this acquisition has not been finalized.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we also recorded adjustments to the purchase price allocation for three acquisitions closed in the
fourth quarter of 2019. The following table summarizes the breakdown of the purchase price allocation for these businesses and the subsequent adjustments
made based on additional information which became available prior to September 30, 2020 (in thousands):

Initial Purchase Price Adjusted Purchase
Allocation Adjustments Price Allocation
Current assets $ 1,482  $ 204 $ 1,686
Preneed trust assets 15,891 — 15,891
Property, plant & equipment 21,680 — 21,680
Cemetery property 11,994 (45) 11,949
Goodwill 99,344 638 99,982
Intangible and other non-current assets 8,269 (1,480) 6,789
Assumed liabilities (657) (145) (802)
Preneed trust liabilities (15,463) — (15,463)
Deferred revenue (1,633) 992 (641)
Purchase price $ 140,907 $ 164 § 141,071

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we paid an additional $164,000 for our acquisition of the cemetery business in Fairfax, Virginia to
reimburse the sellers for certain incremental taxes resulting from the 338(h)(10) election under the Internal Revenue Code. We also received $153,000 in

cash, recorded in Current assets, related to the closing of all operating bank accounts in place prior to the acquisition. As of September 30, 2020, our
accounting for our 2019 acquisitions is complete.

4. GOODWILL

The following table presents changes in goodwill in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the
nine months ended September 30, 2020 (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Goodwill at the beginning of the period $ 303,887 $ 398,292
Net increase in goodwill related to acquisitions 99,344 14,210
Decrease in goodwill related to divestitures (4,939) (4,387)
Decrease in goodwill related to impairments — (13,632)
Goodwill at the end of the period $ 398,292 $ 394,483

See Notes 1, 3 and 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein, for a discussion of the methodology used for our goodwill impairment
test and a discussion of our acquisitions and divestitures, respectively.
5. DIVESTED OPERATIONS

During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we sold six funeral homes for $7.3 million. During 2019, we ceased to operate a funeral home
whose lease expired and sold a funeral home for $0.9 million. In addition, we merged a funeral home in an existing market.

The operating results of these divested funeral homes are reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Operations as shown in the table below (in
thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Revenue $ 108 $ 144 $ 471 $ 1,829
Operating income (loss) (31) (112) 4 70
Net loss on divestitures') (3,863) (4,917) (3,874) (4,917)
Income tax benefit 1,149 1,710 1,211 1,638
Net loss from divested operations, after tax $ (2,745) $ (3,319) $ (2,659) § (3,209)

(1) Net loss on divestitures is recorded in Net loss on divestitures and impairment charges on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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6. RECEIVABLES

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable is comprised of the following at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 (in thousands):
December 31, 2019

Funeral Cemetery Corporate Total
Trade and financed receivables $ 10,046 $ 10,508 $ — 3 20,554
Other receivables 935 157 681 1,773
Allowance for bad debt and contract cancellation (223) (626) — (849)
Accounts receivable, net $ 10,758  $ 10,039 § 681 $ 21,478

September 30, 2020

Funeral Cemetery Corporate Total
Trade and financed receivables $ 9,364 $ 11,726  $ — S 21,090
Other receivables 351 1,886 180 2,417
Allowance for credit losses (269) 961) — (1,230)
Accounts receivable, net $ 9,446 $ 12,651 § 180 3 22,277

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we increased our allowance for credit losses on our Accounts Receivables by $0.1 million as a
result of the economic impact of COVID-19. Other receivables include supplier rebates, commissions due from third party insurance companies and
perpetual care income receivables. We do not provide an allowance for credit losses for these receivables as we have historically not had any collectability
issues nor do we expect any in the foreseeable future.

The following table summarizes the activity in our allowance for credit losses by portfolio segment for nine months ended September 30, 2020 (in
thousands):

Allowance
January 1, Provision for Recorded at

2020 Credit Losses Acquisition Write Offs Recoveries September 30, 2020
Trade and financed receivables:
Funeral $ (223) $ (880) $ — § 1,611 $ 777) $ (269)
Cemetery (626) (386) (287) 338 — (961)
Total allowance for credit losses on Trade and
financed receivables $ (849) $ (1,266) $ (287) $ 1,949 $ T77) $ (1,230)

As noted in Note 3, we acquired preneed cemetery receivables in connection with the funeral home and cemetery combination business in Lafayette,
California acquired on January 3, 2020. We recorded an allowance for credit losses of $0.6 million on these acquired receivables ($0.3 million current
portion shown above in Accounts Receivable, net and $0.3 million non-current portion shown below in Preneed Cemetery Receivables, net as noted in the
respective allowance rollforward tables under Allowance Recorded at Acquisition). We accounted for the allowance for credit losses on these purchased
financed assets using specific identification as these assets have a unique set of risk characteristics. For these specifically identified receivables, we
determined the allowance to be 100% of the face value.

Bad debt expense for accounts receivable totaled $0.3 million and $0.8 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019.
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Preneed Cemetery Receivables

Our preneed cemetery receivables are comprised of the following at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Cemetery interment rights $ 31,366 $ 35,084
Cemetery merchandise and services 9,950 10,255
Preneed cemetery receivables $ 41,316 $ 45,339

The components of our preneed cemetery receivables at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Preneed cemetery receivables $ 41,316 $ 45,339
Less: unearned finance charges (4,522) (4,166)
Preneed cemetery receivables, at amortized cost $ 36,794 $ 41,173
Less: allowance for contract cancellation and credit losses (1,916) (2,925)
Less: balances due on undelivered cemetery preneed contracts (4,823) (7,159)
Less: amounts in accounts receivable (9,882) (10,765)
Preneed cemetery receivables, net $ 20,173  $ 20,324

The following table summarizes the activity in our allowance for credit losses for Preneed cemetery receivables, net for the nine months ended
September 30, 2020 (in thousands):

Allowance
Provision for Recorded at
January 1, 2020 Credit Losses Acquisition Write Offs September 30, 2020
Total allowance for credit losses on Preneed cemetery
receivables, net $ (1,290) $ 571) $ 318) $ 215 $ (1,964)

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we increased our allowance for credit losses on our Preneed cemetery receivables, net by $0.4
million as a result of the economic impact of COVID-19. Bad debt expense for our preneed cemetery receivables totaled $0.2 million and $0.4 million for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019.

The amortized cost basis of our preneed cemetery receivables by year of origination as of September 30, 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 Prior Total

Total preneed cemetery receivables, at

amortized cost $ 14,933 § 11,853 8 6,576 $ 3,953 $ 1,894 $ 1,964 $ 41,173

The aging of past due preneed cemetery receivables as of September 30, 2020 is as follows (in thousands):
31-60 61-90 91-120 >120 Total Past
Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Due Current Total

Recognized revenue $ 599 § 281 $ 193 § 2,000 $ 3,163 $ 31,191 $ 34,354
Deferred revenue 312 105 49 167 633 10,352 10,985
Total contracts $ 911 § 386 § 242§ 2,257 § 3,796 $ 41,543 $ 45,339

7. TRUST INVESTMENTS

Preneed trust investments represent trust fund assets that we are generally permitted to withdraw as the services and merchandise are provided to
customers. Preneed funeral and cemetery contracts are secured by payments from customers, less amounts not required by law to be deposited into trust.
Preneed trust investments are reduced by the trust earnings we have been allowed to withdraw in certain states prior to our performance. These earnings are
recognized as earned, in Other revenue, when a service is performed or merchandise is delivered. Trust management fees charged by CSV RIA are
included as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Cemetery perpetual care trust investments represent a portion of the proceeds from the sale of cemetery property interment rights which we are
required by various state laws to deposit into perpetual care trust funds. The income earned from these perpetual care trusts offsets maintenance expenses
for cemetery property and memorials. This trust fund income is recognized, as earned, in Other revenue.
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Where quoted prices are available in an active market, investments held by the trusts are classified as Level 1 investments pursuant to the three-level
valuation hierarchy. Our Level 1 investments include cash, U.S. treasury debt, common stock and equity mutual funds. Where quoted market prices are not
available for the specific security, then fair values are estimated by using quoted prices of similar securities in active markets or inputs other than quoted
prices that can corroborate observable market data. These investments are fixed income securities, including foreign debt, corporate debt, preferred stocks,
mortgage-backed securities and fixed income mutual funds and other investments, all of which are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy. We
review and update our fair value hierarchy classifications quarterly. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for further
information of the fair value measurement.

As of September 30, 2020, we have net unrealized losses of $7.3 million in our trusts. At September 30, 2020, these net unrealized losses represented
3% of our original cost basis of $245.8 million. Our trusts have been and continue to be impacted by current market conditions in the U.S. and global
financial markets. The decline in fair value is largely due to changes in interest rates and other market conditions. Our investments are diversified across
multiple industry segments using a balanced allocation strategy to minimize long-term risk. In addition, we do not intend to sell and it is likely that we will
not be required to sell the securities prior to their anticipated recovery.

Changes in unrealized gains and/or losses related to these securities are reflected in Other comprehensive income and offset by the Deferred preneed
funeral and cemetery receipts held in trust and Care trusts’ corpus interests in those unrealized gains and/or losses. There is no impact on earnings until
such time that the loss is realized in the trusts, allocated to the preneed contracts and the services are performed or the merchandise is delivered, causing the
contract to be withdrawn from the trust in accordance with state regulations.

For available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position, we first assess whether we intend to sell or it is more likely than not that we will
be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met, the security's
amortized cost basis is written down to fair value through income. For available-for-sale debt securities that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, we
evaluate whether the decline in fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. In making this assessment, we consider the extent to which fair
value is less than amortized cost, any changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency, and adverse conditions specifically related to the security,
among other factors. If our assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected from the security are
compared to the amortized cost basis of the security. If the present value of cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit
loss exists and an allowance for credit losses is recorded for the credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis.
Any unrealized loss that has not been recorded through an allowance for credit losses is recognized in other comprehensive income.

We rely on our trust investments to provide funding for the various contractual obligations that arise upon maturity of the underlying preneed
contracts. Because of the long-term relationship between the establishment of trust investments and the required performance of the underlying contractual
obligations, the impact of current market conditions that may exist at any given time is not necessarily indicative of our ability to generate profit on our
future performance obligations.

Preneed Cemetery Trust Investments

The components of Preneed cemetery trust investments on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 are as
follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Preneed cemetery trust investments, at market value $ 74,572 $ 77,968
Less: allowance for contract cancellation (2,190) (2,388)
Preneed cemetery trust investments $ 72,382 $ 75,580
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The cost and market values associated with preneed cemetery trust investments at September 30, 2020 are detailed below (in thousands):

Cash and money market accounts
Fixed income securities:
Foreign debt
Corporate debt
Preferred stock
Mortgage-backed securities
Common stock
Mutual funds:
Fixed Income
Trust securities

Accrued investment income
Preneed cemetery trust investments
Market value as a percentage of cost

The estimated maturities of the fixed income securities (excluding mutual funds) included above are as follows (in thousands):

Due in one year or less

Due in one to five years

Due in five to ten years
Thereafter

Total fixed income securities

Cash and money market accounts
Fixed income securities:

Foreign debt

Corporate debt

Preferred stock

Mortgage-backed securities
Common stock
Mutual funds:

Fixed income

Trust Securities

Accrued investment income

Preneed cemetery trust investments

Fair Value Unrealized Unrealized Fair Market
Hierarchy Level Cost Gains Losses Value
1 $ 1,332 — — S 1,332
2 15,664 1,148 (1,162) 15,650
2 16,594 1,188 (813) 16,969
2 12,526 523 (927) 12,122
2 323 — (189) 134
1 26,137 4,729 (7,701) 23,165
2 7,024 728 (250) 7,502
79,600 8,316 (11,042) ¢ 76,874
$ 1,094 $ 1,094
$ 77,968
96.6 %

$ _

12,456

9,244

23,175

$ 44,875

The cost and market values associated with preneed cemetery trust investments at December 31, 2019 are detailed below (in thousands):
Fair Value Unrealized Unrealized Fair Market
Hierarchy Level Cost Gains Losses Value
1 $ 5,729 — — S 5,729
2 5,609 312 (243) 5,678
2 16,916 1,044 (649) 17,311
2 14,206 904 (164) 14,946
2 517 — (114) 403
1 28,569 2,766 (3,017) 28,318
2 1,463 72 (85) 1,450
73,009 5,098 4,272) ¢ 73,835
737 $ 737
$ 74,572
101.1 %

Market value as a percentage of cost
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The following table summarized our fixed income securities within our preneed cemetery trust investments in an unrealized loss position at
September 30, 2020, aggregated by major security type and length of time in a continuous unrealized loss position (in thousands):

September 30, 2020
In Loss Position Less than 12 In Loss Position Greater than Total
months 12 months
Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized
value Losses value Losses value Losses

Fixed income securities:

Foreign debt $ 3,048 $ (309 $ 144 $ 853) $ 3,192 $ (1,162)
Corporate debt 4,073 (330) 1,363 (483) 5,436 (813)
Preferred stock 5,022 (711) 441 (216) 5,463 927)
Mortgage-backed securities 134 (189) 134 (189)

Total fixed income securities with an unrealized loss $ 12,143 § (1,350) $ 2,082  § (1,741) § 14,225  § (3,091)

December 31, 2019

In Loss Position Less than 12 In Loss Position Greater than Total
months 12 months
Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized
value Losses value Losses value Losses

Fixed income securities:

Foreign debt $ 268 $ 42) 3 758 $ 201) $ 1,026 $ (243)

Corporate debt 1,368 (168) 4,520 (481) 5,888 (649)

Preferred stock 4,135 (164) — — 4,135 (164)

Mortgage-backed securities — — 402 (114) 402 (114)
Total fixed income securities with an unrealized loss  $ 5,771 $ (374) $ 5,680 $ (796) $ 11,451 $ (1,170)

Preneed cemetery trust investment security transactions recorded in Other, net on our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020 2019 2020

Investment income $ 323§ 449 $ 1,308 $ 1,421
Realized gains 1,180 2,857 5,001 6,392
Realized losses (1,527) 918) (3,163) (4,490)
Expenses and taxes (396) (357) (1,081) (982)
Net change in deferred preneed cemetery receipts held in trust 420 (2,031) (2,065) (2,341)
$ — $ —  $ —  $ —

Purchases and sales of investments in the preneed cemetery trusts for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 are as follows
(in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Purchases $ (13,488) $ (10,297) S (33,299) $ (42,750)
Sales 11,672 9,200 24,690 34,566
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Preneed Funeral Trust Investments

The components of Preneed funeral trust investments on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 are as
follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Preneed funeral trust investments, at market value $ 99,246 $ 95,730
Less: allowance for contract cancellation (2,911) (2,907)
Preneed funeral trust investments $ 96,335 $ 92,823

The cost and market values associated with preneed funeral trust investments at September 30, 2020 are detailed below (in thousands):

Fair Value Unrealized Unrealized Fair Market
Hierarchy Level Cost Gains Losses Value

Cash and money market accounts 1 $ 18,546  $ — 3 — 3 18,546
Fixed income securities:

U.S treasury debt 1 819 10 — 829

Foreign debt 2 15,132 1,133 (1,083) 15,182

Corporate debt 2 15,258 1,086 (766) 15,578

Preferred stock 2 11,772 484 (858) 11,398

Mortgage-backed securities 2 351 — (187) 164
Common stock 1 24,925 4,659 (7,171) 22,413
Mutual funds:

Fixed income 2 6,128 678 (173) 6,633

Other investments 2 3,943 — — 3,943
Trust securities $ 96,874  § 8,050 $ (10,238) ¢ 94,686
Accrued investment income $ 1,044 $ 1,044
Preneed funeral trust investments $ 95,730
Market value as a percentage of cost T 977%

The estimated maturities of the fixed income securities (excluding mutual funds) included above are as follows (in thousands):

Due in one year or less $ 829
Due in one to five years 12,042
Due in five to ten years 8,234
Thereafter 22,046
Total fixed income securities $ 43,151
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The cost and market values associated with preneed funeral trust investments at December 31, 2019 are detailed below (in thousands):

Fair Value Unrealized Unrealized Fair Market
Hierarchy Level Cost Gains Losses Value

Cash and money market accounts 1 $ 24,160 § —  $ — Y 24,160
Fixed income securities:

U.S. treasury debt 1 822 — — 822

Foreign debt 2 5,587 309 (232) 5,664

Corporate debt 2 16,109 992 (646) 16,455

Preferred stock 2 14,094 874 (198) 14,770

Mortgage-backed securities 2 585 — (117) 468
Common stock 1 27,652 2,773 (2,869) 27,556
Mutual funds:

Equity 1 772 617 4) 1,385

Fixed income 2 4,364 107 (107) 4,364

Other investments 2 2,902 — — 2,902
Trust securities $ 97,047 $ 5,672 $ 4,173) § 98,546
Accrued investment income $ 700 $ 700
Preneed funeral trust investments $ 99,246
Market value as a percentage of cost T 1015%

The following table summarized our fixed income securities within our preneed funeral trust investment in an unrealized loss position at
September 30, 2020, aggregated by major security type and length of time in a continuous unrealized loss position (in thousands):

September 30, 2020
In Loss Position Less than 12 In Loss Position Greater than T
otal
months 12 months
Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized
value Losses value Losses value Losses
Fixed income securities:
Foreign debt $ 2,753 $ 302) $ 133 $ (781) $ 2,886 $ (1,083)
Corporate debt 4,038 (327) 1,298 (439) 5,336 (766)
Preferred stock 4,716 (644) 438 (214) 5,154 (858)
Mortgage-backed securities — — 137 (187) 137 (187)

Total fixed income securities with an unrealized loss  $ 11,507  $ 1,273) §$ 2,006 $ (1,621) § 13,513 $ (2,894)

December 31, 2019
In Loss Position Less than 12 In Loss Position Greater than T
otal
months 12 months
Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized
value Losses value Losses value Losses

Fixed income securities:

Foreign debt $ 274 $ 43) $ 723 $ (189) §$ 997 $ (232)

Corporate debt 1,403 (172) 4,433 474) 5,836 (646)

Preferred stock 4,412 (198) — — 4,412 (198)

Mortgage-backed securities — — 439 (117) 439 (117)
Total fixed income securities with an unrealized loss  § 6,080 $ (413) § 5595 § (780) § 11,684  § (1,193)
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Preneed funeral trust investment security transactions recorded in Other, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020 2019 2020

Investment income $ 328 $ 373§ 1,310 $ 1,235
Realized gains 1,114 2,821 4,920 6,978
Realized losses (1,540) 911) (1,964) (4,093)
Expenses and taxes (226) (296) (511) (646)
Net change in deferred preneed funeral receipts held in trust 324 (1,987) (3,755) (3,474)
$ — — — 3 —

Purchases and sales of investments in the preneed funeral trusts for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 are as follows (in
thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Purchases $ (12,129) $ (9,869) $ (31,325) $ (41,560)
Sales 11,393 8,975 24,994 36,831

Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Investments

Care trusts’ corpus on our Consolidated Balance Sheet represent the corpus of those trusts plus undistributed income. The components of Care trusts’
corpus as of December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Cemetery perpetual care trust investments, at market value $ 64,047 $ 64,824
Obligations due to (from) trust (631) (204)
Care trusts’ corpus $ 63,416 $ 64,620

The following table reflects the cost and fair market values associated with the trust investments held in perpetual care trust funds at September 30,
2020 (in thousands):

Fair Value Unrealized Unrealized Fair Market
Hierarchy Level Cost Gains Losses Value
Cash and money market accounts 1 $ 348§ — 3 — 3 348
Fixed income securities:

Foreign debt 2 12,880 929 (986) 12,823

Corporate debt 2 13,563 1,041 617) 13,987

Preferred stock 2 11,354 471 951) 10,874

Mortgage-backed securities 2 256 — (150) 106
Common stock 1 21,535 3,984 (6,365) 19,154
Mutual funds:

Fixed Income 2 6,316 587 (292) 6,611
Trust securities $ 66,252 $ 7012 $ 9,361) § 63,903
Accrued investment income $ 921 $ 921
Cemetery perpetual care investments $ 64,824
Market value as a percentage of cost 96.5 %
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The estimated maturities of the fixed income securities (excluding mutual funds) included above are as follows (in thousands):

Due in one year or less $ —
Due in one to five years 9,819
Due in five to ten years 7,657
Thereafter 20,314

Total fixed income securities $ 37,790

The following table reflects the cost and fair market values associated with the trust investments held in perpetual care trust funds at December 31,
2019 (in thousands):

Fair Value Unrealized Unrealized Fair Market
Hierarchy Level Cost Gains Losses Value
Cash and money market accounts 1 $ 4,624 § — 3 — 3 4,624
Fixed income securities:
Foreign debt 2 4,200 238 (175) 4,263
Corporate debt 2 11,658 802 (534) 11,926
Preferred stock 2 10,782 666 (106) 11,342
Mortgage-backed securities 2 324 — (71) 253
Common stock 1 21,594 3,399 (1,911) 23,082
Mutual funds:
Equity 1 233 146 (1) 378
Fixed income 2 7,156 618 (107) 7,667
Trust securities $ 60,571  $ 5869 $ (2,905) s 63,535
Accrued investment income $ 512 $ 512
Cemetery perpetual care investments $ 64,047
Market value as a percentage of cost 104.9 %

The following table summarized our fixed income securities within our perpetual care trust investment in an unrealized loss position at September 30,
2020, aggregated by major security type and length of time in a continuous unrealized loss position (in thousands):

September 30, 2020
In Loss Position Less than 12 In Loss Position Greater than T
otal
months 12 months
Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized
value Losses value Losses value Losses
Fixed income securities:
Foreign debt $ 2,307 $ 242) $ 126 $ (745)  §$ 2,433 $ 987)
Corporate debt 3,553 (263) 1,299 (354) 4,852 (617)
Preferred stock 4,639 (780) 350 (171) 4,989 (951)
Mortgage-backed securities 106 (149) 106 (149)

Total fixed income securities with an unrealized loss  $ 10,499 § (1,285) § 1,881 $ (1419 § 12,380 § (2,704)

-26-



December 31,2019

In Loss Position Less than 12 In Loss Position Greater than

months 12 months Total
Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized Fair market Unrealized
value Losses value Losses value Losses

Fixed income securities:

Foreign debt $ 168 S 26) S 549§ (149) $ 717 S (175)

Corporate debt 1,057 (196) 3,253 (338) 4310 (534)

Preferred stock 2,989 (106) — — 2,989 (106)

Mortgage-backed securities — — 252 (71) 252 (71)
Total fixed income securities with an unrealized loss ~ § 4214  $ (328) $ 4,054  § (558) § 8268 § (886)

Perpetual care trust investment security transactions recorded in Other, net on our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Realized gains $ 291 $ 773 $ 1,315 § 1,921
Realized losses (414) (249) (855) (1,534)
Net change in Care trusts’ corpus 123 (524) (460) (387)
Total $ — 3 — 3 — 3 —

Perpetual care trust investment security transactions recorded in Other revenue on our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Investment income $ 1,220 $ 2,531 $ 3414  §$ 5,879
Realized gains (losses), net (232) 63 (512) 53
Total $ 988 $ 2,594 $ 2902 $ 5,932

Purchases and sales of investments in the perpetual care trusts for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 are as follows (in
thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Purchases $ (7,680) $ (7,960) $ (21,954) $ (33,638)
Sales 6,599 7,168 14,578 29,319

8. RECEIVABLES FROM PRENEED TRUSTS

Our Receivables from preneed trusts represent assets in trusts which are controlled and operated by third parties in which we do not have a controlling
financial interest (less than 50%) in the trust assets. We account for these investments at cost. As of December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020,
receivables from preneed trusts are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Preneed trust funds, at cost $ 18,581 $ 18,345
Less: allowance for contract cancellation (557) (551)
Receivables from preneed trusts, net $ 18,024 $ 17,794

The following summary reflects the composition of the assets held in trust and controlled by third parties to satisfy our future obligations under
preneed arrangements related to the preceding contracts at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The cost basis includes reinvested interest and
dividends that have been earned on the trust assets. Fair value includes unrealized gains and losses on trust assets.
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The composition of the preneed trust funds at September 30, 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

Historical
Cost Basis Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,465 $ 4,465
Fixed income investments 11,390 11,390
Mutual funds and common stocks 2,486 2,639
Annuities 4 4
Total $ 18,345 $ 18,498
The composition of the preneed trust funds at December 31, 2019 is as follows (in thousands):
Historical
Cost Basis Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,533 $ 4,533
Fixed income investments 11,603 11,603
Mutual funds and common stocks 2,440 2,518
Annuities 5 5
Total $ 18,581 $ 18,659

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We evaluated our financial assets and liabilities for those financial assets and liabilities that met the criteria of the disclosure requirements and fair
value framework. The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, and trade payables approximate the fair values of those instruments
due to the short-term nature of the instruments. The fair values of receivables on preneed funeral and cemetery contracts are impracticable to estimate
because of the lack of a trading market and the diverse number of individual contracts with varying terms. Our acquisition debt and Credit Facility (as
defined in Note 11) are classified within Level 2 of the Fair Value Measurements hierarchy.

The fair values of the acquisition debt and Credit Facility approximate the carrying values of these instruments based on the index yields of similar
securities compared to U.S. Treasury yield curves. The fair value of the Convertible Notes (as defined in Note 12) was approximately $2.9 million at
September 30, 2020 based on the last traded or broker quoted price. The fair value of the Senior Notes (as defined in Note 13) was approximately $422.3
million at September 30, 2020 based on the last traded or broker quoted price. We identified investments in fixed income securities, common stock and
mutual funds presented within the preneed and perpetual care trust investments categories on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as having met the criteria for
fair value measurement.

As of December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020, we did not have any assets that had fair values determined by Level 3 inputs and no liabilities
measured at fair value.

We account for our investments as available-for-sale and measure them at fair value under standards of financial accounting and reporting for
investments in equity instruments that have readily determinable fair values and for all investments in debt securities. See Note 7 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements herein for the fair value hierarchy levels of our trust investments.

10. INTANGIBLE AND OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible and other non-current assets at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Tradenames $ 25,233 $ 23,565
Prepaid agreements not-to-compete, net of accumulated amortization of $7,195 and $7,528, 3,915 2,915
respectively
Capitalized commissions on preneed contracts, net of accumulated amortization of $1,127 and 2,818 3,085
$1,144, respectively
Other 150 69
Intangible and other non-current assets, net $ 32,116 $ 29,634

During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we divested four funeral homes that had a carrying value of Tradenames of $1.0 million, which
was included in the gain or loss on the sale of divestitures and recorded in Net loss on divestitures and impairment charges on our Consolidated Statements
of Operations. See Notes 1, 3 and 5 to the Consolidated
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Financial Statements included herein, for a discussion of the methodology used for our indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment test and discussion of
our acquisitions and divestitures, respectively.

Prepaid agreements not-to-compete are amortized over the term of the respective agreements, ranging generally from one to ten years. Amortization
expense was $177,000 and $175,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively and $513,000 and $551,000 for the nine
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively. During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we divested three funeral homes that had a
carrying value of Prepaid agreements not-to-compete of $0.5 million, which was included in the gain or loss on the sale of divestitures and recorded in Net
loss on divestitures and impairment charges on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included
herein, for a discussion of our divestitures.

Amortization expense related to capitalized commissions totaled $140,000 and $145,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020,
respectively and $417,000 and $430,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

The aggregate amortization expense for our intangible assets subject to amortization as of September 30, 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

Non-Compete Capitalized
Agreements Commissions
Years ending December 31,
Remainder of 2020 $ 160 § 149
2021 588 565
2022 481 519
2023 434 464
2024 380 401
Thereafter 872 987
Total amortization expense $ 2915 § 3,085

11. CREDIT FACILITY AND ACQUISITION DEBT

At September 30, 2020, our senior secured revolving credit facility (“Credit Facility”) was comprised of: (i) a $190.0 million revolving credit facility,
including a $15.0 million subfacility for letters of credit and a $10.0 million swingline, and (ii) an accordion or incremental option allowing for future
increases in the facility size by an additional amount of up to $75.0 million in the form of increased revolving commitments or incremental term loans. The
final maturity of the Credit Facility will occur on May 31, 2023.

The Credit Facility contains customary affirmative covenants, including, but not limited to, covenants with respect to the use of proceeds, payment of
taxes and other obligations, continuation of the Company’s business and the maintenance of existing rights and privileges, the maintenance of property and
insurance, amongst others.

In addition, the Credit Facility also contains customary negative covenants, including, but not limited to, covenants that restrict (subject to certain
exceptions) the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries and party thereto as guarantors (the “Credit Facility Guarantors”) to incur additional
indebtedness, grant liens on assets, make investments, engage in mergers and acquisitions, and pay dividends and other restricted payments, and certain
financial covenants. As of September 30, 2020, we were subject to the following financial covenants under our Credit Facility: (A) a Total Leverage Ratio
not to exceed, (i) 5.75 to 1.00 for the quarters ended March 31, 2020, June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2020 and (ii) 5.50 to 1.00 for the quarter ended
December 31, 2020 and each quarter ended thereafter, (B) a Senior Secured Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Facility) not to exceed 2.00 to 1.00 as
of the end of any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters, and (C) a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Facility) of not less than 1.20
to 1.00 as of the end of any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters. These financial maintenance covenants are calculated for the Company and its
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

On August 7, 2020, we obtained a limited consent from the lenders under our Credit Facility in connection with our privately-negotiated repurchases
of our 2.75% convertible subordinated notes due 2021 (the “Convertible Notes™). See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein,
for a discussion of our privately-negotiated repurchases.

We were in compliance with the total leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio and senior secured leverage ratio covenants contained in our Credit
Facility as of September 30, 2020.
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Our Credit Facility and Acquisition debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Credit Facility $ 83,800 $ 56,000
Debt issuance costs, net of accumulated amortization of $337 and $700, respectively (1,618) (1,255)
Total Credit Facility $ 82,182  $ 54,745
Acquisition debt $ 6,964 $ 6,119
Less: current portion (1,306) (1,162)
Total acquisition debt, net of current portion $ 5,658 % 4,957

We have one letter of credit outstanding under the Credit Facility issued on November 30, 2019 for approximately $2.0 million, which was increased
to $2.1 million on September 29, 2020. The letter of credit bears interest at 3.125% and will expire on November 25, 2020. The letter of credit
automatically renews annually and secures our obligations under our various self-insured policies. Outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facility bear
interest at either a prime rate or a LIBOR rate, plus an applicable margin based upon our leverage ratio. As of September 30, 2020, the prime rate margin
was equivalent to 2.00% and the LIBOR rate margin was 3.00%. The weighted average interest rate on our Credit Facility was 3.9% for both the three
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 and 3.9% and 4.0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

The interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs related to our Credit Facility during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019
and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Credit Facility interest expense $ 350 $ 828 § 1,090 $ 3,164
Credit Facility amortization of debt issuance costs 59 118 167 363

Acquisition debt consists of deferred purchase price and promissory notes payable to sellers. A majority of the deferred purchase price and notes bear
no interest and are discounted at imputed interest rates ranging from 7.3% to 10.0%. Original maturities range from five to twenty years.

The imputed interest expense related to our acquisition debt during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 is as follows (in
thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Acquisition debt imputed interest expense $ 152 $ 122§ 481 $ 373

12. CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES

On September 9, 2020, we completed privately-negotiated repurchases (the “Repurchases”) of $3.8 million in aggregate principal amount of the
Convertible Notes for $4.5 million in cash (plus accrued interest of $0.1 million totaling $4.6 million) and recorded $0.8 million for the reacquisition of the
equity component. The Repurchases represented approximately 60% of the aggregate principal amount of Convertible Notes then outstanding. Following
the settlement of the Repurchases, the aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Notes was reduced to approximately $2.6 million.
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The carrying values of the liability and equity components of our Convertible Notes at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 are reflected on
our Consolidated Balance Sheet as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Current liabilities:
Principal amount $ 6,319 $ 2,559
Unamortized discount of liability component (319) (35)
Convertible Notes issuance costs, net of accumulated amortization of $130 29) 2)
and $63, respectively
Carrying value of the liability component $ 5971  $ 2,522
Carrying value of the equity component $ 789 $ 319

The carrying value of the liability component and the carrying value of the equity component are recorded in Convertible subordinated notes due
2021 and Additional paid-in capital, respectively, on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020.

The fair value of the Convertible Notes, which are Level 2 measurements, was $2.9 million at September 30, 2020. The Convertible Notes are due in
March 2021 and bear interest at 2.75% per year, which is payable semi-annually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year.

At September 30, 2020, the adjusted conversion rate of the Convertible Notes was 45.8380 shares of our common stock per $1,000 principal amount
of Convertible Notes, equivalent to an adjusted conversion price of $21.82 per share of common stock.

The interest expense and accretion of debt discount and debt issuance costs related to our Convertible Notes during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Convertible Notes interest expense $ 43 3 43 3 131 $ 130
Convertible Notes accretion of debt discount 61 69 178 200
Convertible Notes amortization of debt issuance costs 6 9 19 21

The remaining unamortized debt discount and the remaining unamortized debt issuance costs are being amortized using the effective interest method
over the remaining term of approximately five months of the Convertible Notes. The effective interest rate on the unamortized debt discount for both the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 was 11.4%. The effective interest rate on the debt issuance costs for both the three months
ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 was 3.2% and for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 was 3.2% and 3.1%, respectively.

13. SENIOR NOTES

The carrying value of our 6.625% Senior Notes due 2026 (the “Senior Notes”) at December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 is reflected on our
Consolidated Balance Sheet as follows (in thousands):
December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020

Long-term liabilities:

Principal amount $ 400,000 $ 400,000

Debt premium, net of accumulated amortization of $0 and $165, respectively 1,688 1,523

Debt discount, net of accumulated amortization of $765 and $1,158,

respectively (4,110) (3,717)

Debt issuance costs, net of accumulated amortization of $216 and $424,

respectively (2,131) (1,990)
Carrying value of the Senior Notes $ 395,447  § 395,816

The fair value of the Senior Notes, which are Level 2 measurements, was $422.3 million at September 30, 2020. The Senior Notes are due on June 1,
2026 and bear interest at 6.625% per year which is payable semi-annually in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year.
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The interest expense and amortization of debt discount, debt premium and debt issuance costs related to our Senior Notes during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Senior Notes interest expense $ 5,383  § 6,625 $ 16,148 $ 19,875
Senior Notes amortization of debt discount 124 133 367 393
Senior Notes amortization of debt premium — 56 — 165
Senior Notes amortization of debt issuance costs 35 72 103 208

The debt discount, the debt premium and the debt issuance costs are being amortized using the effective interest method over the remaining term of
approximately 68 months of the Senior Notes. The effective interest rate on the unamortized debt discount and the unamortized debt issuance costs for the
initial Senior Notes, which were issued in May 2018, for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was 6.87% and 6.69%, respectively.
The effective interest rate on the unamortized debt premium and the unamortized debt issuance costs for the additional Senior Notes, which were issued in
December 2019, for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was 6.20% and 6.90%, respectively.

We may redeem all or part of the Senior Notes at any time prior to June 1, 2021 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of Senior
Notes redeemed, plus a “make whole” premium, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption.
14. LEASES

Our lease obligations consist of operating and finance leases related to real estate and equipment. The components of lease cost for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
Income Statement Classification 2019 2020 2019 2020
Operating lease cost Facilities and grounds expense" $ 899 § 927 $ 2,762 $ 2,838
Short-term lease cost Facilities and grounds expense” 73 52 206 148
Finance lease cost:
Depreciation of leased assets Depreciation and amortization®® $ 131 $ 1 $ 395 % 329
Interest on lease liabilities  Interest expense 129 123 392 374
Total finance lease cost 260 234 787 703
Total lease cost $ 1,232 $ 1,213 $ 3,755 $ 3,689

(1)  Facilities and grounds expense is included within Cost of service and General, administrative and other on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(2) Depreciation and amortization expense is included within Field depreciation and Home office depreciation and amortization on our Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Variable lease expense was immaterial for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020.

Supplemental cash flow information related to our leases for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Cash paid for operating leases included in operating activities $ 2,921 $ 2,470
Cash paid for finance leases included in financing activities 669 621

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new leases for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 is as follows (in thousands):
Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 8,175 $ 75
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities — —
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

Lease Type Balance Sheet Classification December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Operating lease right-of-use assets Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 22,304 $ 20,846
Finance lease right-of-use assets Property, plant and equipment, net $ 6,770 $ 6,770
Accumulated depreciation Property, plant and equipment, net (1,566) (1,895)
Finance lease right-of-use assets, net 5,204 4,875
Operating lease current liabilities Current portion of operating lease obligations $ 1,554 $ 2,064
Finance lease current liabilities Current portion of finance lease obligations 290 314
Total current lease liabilities 1,844 2,378
Operating lease non-current liabilities Obligations under operating leases, net of current portion 21,533 19,952
Finance lease non-current liabilities Obligations under finance leases, net of current portion 5,854 5,615
Total non-current lease liabilities 27,387 25,567
Total lease liabilities $ 29,231 $ 27,945

The average lease terms and discount rates as of September 30, 2020 are as follows:
Weighted-average

remaining lease term Weighted-average
(years) discount rate
Operating leases 10.3 8.1 %
Finance leases 6.1 82 %

The aggregate future lease payments for operating and finance leases as of September 30, 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Operating Finance
Lease payments due:
Remainder of 2020 $ 938 $ 208
2021 3,729 836
2022 3,348 860
2023 3,226 860
2024 3,215 791
Thereafter 17,777 6,291
Total lease payments 32,233 9,846
Less: Interest (10,217) (3,917)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 22,016  § 5,929

As of September 30, 2020, we had no additional significant operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced.

15. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Restricted Stock

During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we did not issue restricted stock. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we issued
restricted stock to certain employees totaling 10,200 shares that vest over a three-year period and had an aggregate grant date market value of
approximately $0.3 million at a weighted average stock price of $25.00. We recorded stock-based compensation expense, which is included in General,
administrative and other expenses, for restricted stock awards of $196,000 and $183,000, for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020,
respectively and $624,000 and $551,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

As of September 30, 2020, we had $1.1 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested restricted stock awards, which are
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 1.2 years.
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Stock Options

During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we did not issue stock options. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we granted
20,000 options to a certain key employee at a weighted average price of $18.02. These options will vest in one-third increments over a three-year period
and have a ten-year term. The fair value of these options was $0.1 million. On June 26, 2020, we cancelled 100,000 options in connection with the
resignation of our President and Chief Operating Officer.

The fair value of the options granted were estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions:

Grant date June 25, 2020
Dividend yield 1.67 %
Expected volatility 38.54 %
Risk-free interest rate 0.25 %
Expected holding period (years) 3.74
Black-Scholes value $4.61

We recorded stock-based compensation expense, which is included in General, administrative and other expenses, for stock options of $160,000 and
$165,000, for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively and $513,000 and $502,000 for the nine months ended September 30,
2019 and 2020, respectively.

Performance Awards

On May 19, 2020, we cancelled all Performance Award Agreements previously awarded to all individuals in 2019 and 2020. Concurrently with the
cancellation, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved a new performance award to be issued to certain employees.
We granted 368,921 performance awards to certain eligible employees, payable in shares. These awards will vest (if at all) on December 31, 2024 provided
that the Company’s common stock reaches one of five pre-determined growth targets for a sustained period beginning on the grant date of May 19, 2020
and ending on December 31, 2024. The new performance award was treated as a modification of the cancelled awards and resulted in an additional $1.7
million of incremental compensation costs, which are expected to be recognized over the remaining term of 51 months.

On June 26, 2020, we cancelled 33,538 performance awards in connection with the resignation of our President and Chief Operating Officer.

The following table reflects the performance awards granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2020, their respective fair values and the
assumptions utilized in the Monte-Carlo simulation pricing model:

Grant date May 19, 2020 June 25, 2020 July 30, 2020 August 31,2020

May 19, 2020 - December June 25, 2020 - December July 30, 2020 - December 31, August 31, 2020 - December
Performance period 31,2024 31,2024 2024 31,2024
Awards granted 368,921 13,974 2,795 6,987
Fair value (in millions) $3.6 $0.2 $0.1 $0.2
Simulation period (years) 4.62 4.52 4.42 4.33
Share price at grant date $15.79 $18.02 $23.10 $22.14
Expected volatility 34.54 % 36.24 % 37.43 % 37.71 %
Risk-free interest rate 0.33 % 0.29 % 0.20 % 0.24 %

We recorded stock-based compensation expense, which is included in General, administrative and other expenses, for performance awards of
$61,000 and $286,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively and $138,000 and $589,000 for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During the three months ended September 30, 2020, employees purchased a total of 15,706 at a weighted average price of $18.96 per share. During
the nine months ended September 30, 2020, employees purchased a total of 59,020 shares at a weighted average price of $15.6 per share. The fair value of

the right (option) to purchase shares under the ESPP is estimated at the date of purchase with the four quarterly purchase dates using the following
assumptions:

Dividend yield 0.01%
Expected volatility 48.63%
Risk-free interest rate 1.54%,1.57%,1.57%,1.56%
Expected life (years) 0.25, 0.50, 0.75, 1.00

We recorded stock-based compensation expense, which is included in General, administrative and other expenses and Regional and unallocated
funeral and cemetery costs, for the ESPP totaling $58,000 and $95,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively and
$224,000 and $339,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

Good to Great Incentive Program

On February 19, 2020, we issued 17,991 shares of our common stock to certain employees, which were valued at approximately $0.4 million at a
grant date stock price of $25.00.

Non-Employee Director Compensation

On February 19, 2020, our Board revised the Director Compensation Policy to provide that each independent director is entitled to a quarterly retainer
of $35,000, payable at the end of the quarter. On April 23, 2020, as part of our broad-based effort to respond to COVID-19, the Board approved a
temporary reduction of the quarterly retainer for our non-employee directors from $35,000 per quarter to $29,750 per quarter (or 15%) effective April 19,
2020. On June 26, 2020, the Board voted to reinstate the quarterly retainer back to 100% effective as of June 28, 2020.

During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we granted 8,540 shares of our common stock to six of our non-employee directors, which were
valued at $0.2 million at a weighted average stock price of $22.41. For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we granted an aggregate of 25,220
shares of our common stock to six of our non-employee directors, which were valued at $0.5 million at a weighted average stock price of $18.88.

We recorded stock-based compensation expense, which is included in General, administrative and other expenses, related to annual retainers and
common stock awards of $114,000 and $250,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively and $341,000 and $653,000 for
the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

Share Repurchase

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock pursuant to our share repurchase
program. At September 30, 2020, we had approximately $25.6 million available for repurchases under our share repurchase program.

Cash Dividends

On May 19, 2020, the Board approved an increase of $0.05 to our annual dividend beginning with the dividend declaration in the third quarter of
2020. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, our Board declared the following dividends payable on the dates below (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

2020 Per Share Dollar Value
March 1% $ 0.0750 § 1,339
June 1% $ 0.0750  § 1,343
September 1% $ 0.0875 $ 1,569
2019 Per Share Dollar Value
March 1% $ 0.0750 § 1,360
June 1% $ 0.0750  § 1,365
September 1% $ 0.0750 $ 1,336

See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional information related to our dividends.
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Accumulated other comprehensive income

Our components of accumulated other comprehensive income are as follows (in thousands):
Three months ended September 30, 2020

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

June 30, 2020 $ —
Net unrealized gains associated with available-for-sale securities of the trusts 3,540
Reclassification of net unrealized gains activity attributable to the Deferred preneed funeral and cemetery receipts held in

trust and Care trusts’ corpus (3,540)
Balance at September 30, 2020 $ —

Nine months ended September 30, 2020

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ —
Net unrealized losses associated with available-for-sale securities of the trusts (7,263)
Reclassification of net unrealized losses activity attributable to the Deferred preneed funeral and cemetery receipts held in
trust and Care trusts’ corpus 7,263
Balance at September 30, 2020 $ —

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of the basic and diluted earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019
and 2020 (in thousands, except per share data):
Three months ended September

30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Net income $ 577 $ 5525 $ 11,964  § 7,725
Less: Earnings allocated to unvested restricted stock 3) (14) (52) (23)
Income attributable to common stockholders $ 574 § 5,511 °§ 11,912 3 7,702
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per common share -
weighted average shares outstanding 17,737 17,895 17,917 17,853
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options 31 34 34 39
Convertible Notes — 3 — 1
Denominator for diluted earnings per common share -
weighted average shares outstanding 17,768 17,932 17,951 17,893
Basic earnings per common share: $ 003 $ 031 $ 066 $ 0.43
Diluted earnings per common share: $ 003 § 031 $ 0.66 $ 0.43

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, there were 3,000 and 1,000 shares, respectively that would have been issued upon
conversion of our Convertible Notes as a result of the application under the if-converted method prescribed by the FASB ASC 260, Earnings Per Share for
the fully diluted weighted average shares outstanding and the corresponding calculation of fully diluted earnings per share.

For the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, there were 900,856 and 765,722 stock options, respectively and 974,290 and 848,513 for
the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively, excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the inclusion of
such stock options would result in an antidilutive effect. For both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, 359,137 performance awards have
been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share as the performance criteria have not been met.
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17. SEGMENT REPORTING

Revenue, disaggregated by major source for each of our reportable segments was as follows (in thousands):
Three months ended September 30, 2020

Funeral Cemetery Total
Services $ 36,987 $ 4,231 $ 41,218
Merchandise 20,846 3,019 23,865
Cemetery property — 12,433 12,433
Other revenue 3,601 3,276 6,877
Total $ 61,434 $ 22,959 $ 84,393
Three months ended September 30, 2019

Funeral Cemetery Total
Services $ 31,400 $ 2,733 $ 34,133
Merchandise 17,918 2,060 19,978
Cemetery property — 8,024 8,024
Other revenue 2,199 1,791 3,990
Total $ 51,517 $ 14,608 $ 66,125
Nine months ended September 30, 2020

Funeral Cemetery Total
Services $ 110,199 $ 10,631 $ 120,830
Merchandise 61,667 7,817 69,484
Cemetery property — 30,727 30,727
Other revenue 10,431 7,888 18,319
Total $ 182,297 $ 57,063 $ 239,360
Nine months ended September 30, 2019

Funeral Cemetery Total
Services $ 97,308 $ 8,136 $ 105,444
Merchandise 56,261 5,791 62,052
Cemetery property — 23,406 23,406
Other revenue 6,618 5,438 12,056
Total $ 160,187 $ 42,771 $ 202,958

We conduct funeral and cemetery operations only in the United States. The following table presents Operating income (loss), Income (loss) before
income taxes and Total assets by segment (in thousands):

Funeral Cemetery Corporate Consolidated

Operating income (loss):

Three months ended September 30, 2020 $ 13,975  § 8982 $ (6,463) $ 16,494

Three months ended September 30, 2019 9,531 3,932 (6,112) 7,351

Nine months ended September 30, 2020 $ 38,155 § 18,440 $ (19,685) $ 36,910

Nine months ended September 30, 2019 42,220 12,083 (18,174) 36,129
Income (loss) before income taxes:

Three months ended September 30, 2020 $ 13,753  $ 9,024 $ (14,393) $ 8,384

Three months ended September 30, 2019 9,312 3,885 (11,673) 1,524

Nine months ended September 30, 2020 $ 37,481 $ 18,538  § (44,136) $ 11,883

Nine months ended September 30, 2019 41,591 12,324 (36,181) 17,734
Total assets:

September 30, 2020 $ 758,088  § 348,288 § 14273  § 1,120,649

December 31, 2019 790,459 314,413 24,883 1,129,755
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18. SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Balance Sheet

The following table presents the detail of certain balance sheet accounts as of December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2020 (in thousands):

December 31, 2019 September 30, 2020
Prepaid and other current assets:
Prepaid expenses $ 1,596 $ 1,486
Deposit on pending acquisition 5,000 —
Federal income taxes receivable 2,973 649
State income taxes receivable 986 —
Other current assets 112 118
Total prepaid and other current assets $ 10,667 $ 2,253
Current portion of debt and lease obligations:
Current portion of acquisition debt $ 1,306 $ 1,162
Current portion of finance lease obligations 290 314
Current portion of operating lease obligations 1,554 2,064
Total current portion of debt and lease obligations $ 3,150 § 3,540
Accrued and other liabilities:
Accrued salaries and wages $ 4,323 $ 2,593
Accrued incentive compensation 9,199 6,187
Accrued vacation 2,880 3,071
Accrued insurance 2,329 2,376
Accrued interest 2,299 8,924
Accrued ad valorem and franchise taxes 678 2,125
Employer payroll tax deferral — 2,106
Accrued commissions 560 791
Perpetual care trust payable 401 88
Income tax payable — 53
Other accrued liabilities 1,357 1,477
Unrecognized tax benefit — 2,860
Total accrued and other liabilities $ 24,026 § 32,651
Other long-term liabilities:
Incentive compensation $ 1,267 $ 2,125
Contingent consideration 470 —
Total other long-term liabilities $ 1,737 $ 2,125

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

October 27, 2020, the Board approved an increase to its quarterly dividend of $0.10 per share and subsequently declared a quarterly dividend payable
on December 1, 2020 to common share record holders as of November 9, 2020. In connection with the increased dividend, the Board withdrew and
cancelled its previous dividend declaration on October 21, 2020.

On October 30, 2020, we sold one funeral home for $0.5 million in West Virginia. Upon divesting this business, we no longer have operations in that
state.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In addition to historical information, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains certain statements and information that may constitute forward-
looking statements within the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements, other than statements of
historical information, should be deemed to be forward-looking statements. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding any
projections of earnings, revenue, asset sales, cash flow, debt levels or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of
management for future operations; any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; any statements of belief; and any statements of
assumptions underlying any of the foregoing and are based on our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential

CLIY3 CEINNT3 9 <,

effect on us. The words “may”, “will”, “estimate”, “intend”, “believe”, “expect”, “seek”, “project”, “forecast”, “foresee”, “should”, “would”, “could”,
“plan”, “anticipate” and other similar words or expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, which are generally not historical in nature.
While management believes that these forward-looking statements are reasonable as and when made, there can be no assurance that future developments
affecting us will be those that we anticipate. All comments concerning our expectations for future revenue and operating results are based on our forecasts
for our existing operations and do not include the potential impact of any future acquisitions. Our forward-looking statements involve significant risks and
uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) and assumptions that could cause actual results to differ materially from our historical experience and
our present expectations or projections. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, those summarized below:
«  our ability to find and retain skilled personnel;
«  our ability to execute our growth strategy;
« the effects of competition;
* the execution of our Standards Operating, 4E Leadership and Standard Acquisition Models;
*  changes in the number of deaths in our markets;
* changes in consumer preferences;
«  our ability to generate preneed sales;
+ the investment performance of our funeral and cemetery trust funds;
« fluctuations in interest rates;
« our ability to obtain debt or equity financing on satisfactory terms to fund additional acquisitions, expansion projects, working capital requirements
and the repayment or refinancing of indebtedness;
« our ability to meet the timing, objectives and cost saving expectations related to anticipated financing activities, including our deleveraging
program, forecasts and planned uses of free cash flow, expected plans for refinancing our senior notes, and future capital allocation;
* the timely and full payment of death benefits related to preneed funeral contracts funded through life insurance contracts;
» the financial condition of third-party insurance companies that fund our preneed funeral contracts;
* increased or unanticipated costs, such as insurance or taxes;
» our level of indebtedness and the cash required to service our indebtedness;
» changes in federal income tax laws and regulations and the implementation and interpretation of these laws and regulations by the Internal Revenue
Service;
« the potential impact of epidemics and pandemics, including the COVID-19 coronavirus (“COVID-19”), on customer preferences and on our
business;
« effects of litigation and burial practice claims;
« effects of the application of other applicable laws and regulations, including changes in such regulations or the interpretation thereof;
*  consolidation of the funeral and cemetery industry;
*  our ability to consummate the divestiture of low performing businesses as currently expected, if at all, including expected use of proceeds related
thereto;
* our ability to integrate acquired businesses with our existing businesses, including expected performance and financial improvements related
thereto; and
»  other factors and uncertainties inherent in the funeral and cemetery industry.

For additional information regarding known material factors that could cause our actual results to differ from our projected results, please see (i) Part
IL, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and (ii) Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. We undertake no
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements after the date they are made, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

OVERVIEW

General

99 <

Carriage Services, Inc. (“Carriage,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) was incorporated in the State of Delaware in December 1993 and is a
leading U.S. provider of funeral and cemetery services and merchandise. We operate in two business segments: Funeral Home Operations, which currently
account for approximately 75% of our revenue, and Cemetery Operations, which currently account for approximately 25% of our revenue.

At September 30, 2020, we operated 180 funeral homes in 27 states and 32 cemeteries in 12 states. We compete with other publicly held and
independent operators of funeral and cemetery companies. We believe we are a market leader in most of our markets.

Our funeral homes offer a complete range of high value personal services to meet a family’s funeral needs, including consultation, the removal and
preparation of remains, the sale of caskets and related funeral merchandise, the use of funeral home facilities for visitation and remembrance services and
transportation services. Our cemeteries provide interment rights (grave sites and mausoleum spaces) and related merchandise, such as markers and outer
burial containers. We provide funeral and cemetery services and products on both an “atneed” (time of death) and “preneed” (planned prior to death) basis.

Recent Developments

Divestitures

During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we divested six funeral homes for at total of $7.3 million, at a net loss on the sale of $4.9 million.

Convertible Notes Repurchases

On September 9, 2020, we repurchased $3.76 million in aggregate principal amount 2.75% convertible subordinated notes due 2021 (“Convertible
Notes”) for $4.5 million in cash (plus accrued interest of $0.1 million totaling $4.6 million). The privately-negotiated repurchases represented
approximately 60% of the aggregate principal amount of Convertible Notes. Following the settlement of the repurchases, the aggregate principal amount of
the Convertible Notes was reduced to approximately $2.6 million. In connection with the repurchases of our Convertible Notes, we obtained a limited
consent from the lenders under our $190.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility (“Credit Facility””) on August 7, 2020 to permit the repurchases
of the Convertible Notes.

Business Impact under the Macroeconomic Environment of COVID-19

On March 11, 2020, COVID-19 was deemed a global pandemic and since then, the Company has continued to proactively monitor and assess the
pandemic’s current and potential impact to the Company’s operations. Since early March, the Company’s senior leadership team has taken certain steps to
assist our businesses in appropriately adjusting and adapting to the conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. Our businesses have been
designated as essential services and, therefore, each one of the Company’s business locations remains open and ready to provide service to their
communities in this time of need. While our businesses provide an essential public function, along with a critical responsibility to the communities and
families they serve, the health and safety of our employees and the families we serve remain our top priority. The Company has taken additional steps
during this time to continually review and update our processes and procedures to comply with all regulatory mandates and procure additional supplies to
ensure that each of our businesses have appropriate personal protective equipment to provide these essential services. Additionally, in many of our business
locations, we have also updated staffing and service guidelines, such as reducing the number of team members present for a service, restricting the size and
number of attendees and adjusting other operating procedures. The Company has also implemented additional safety and precautionary measures as it
concerns our businesses’ day-to-day interaction with the families and communities they serve.

The overall impact of the macroeconomic environment to the deathcare industry from COVID-19 may provide varying results as compared to other
industries. Our industry’s revenues are impacted by various factors, including the number of funeral services performed, the average price for a service and
the mix of traditional burial versus cremation contracts. Changes in the macroeconomic environment as a result of the pandemic have, to this point, led to
an increase in volume and may create situations where people choose to spend less on funerals by purchasing less expensive caskets, minimize the scale of
services and visitations, or elect not to make a preneed funeral or cemetery arrangement. During this time, our businesses have been focused on being
innovative and resourceful, providing some type of immediate service as part of the grieving process. Gathering and travel restrictions across many areas of
the country have limited our ability to provide large, in-person
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memorialization services and we have seen client families elect webcasting and livestreaming services, hold services with smaller attendance or rotating
visitors, or in some cases, choose to delay services to a future date.

Within our financial reporting environment, we have considered various areas that could affect the results of our operations, though the scope,
severity and duration of these impacts remain uncertain at this time because the COVID-19 pandemic is continually evolving and the ultimate impact of
COVID-19 remains uncertain. Certain estimates inherently involve assumptions about future events and annual results, making reliable estimates for those
matters challenging in periods of economic instability. We do not believe we are vulnerable to certain concentrations, whether by geographic area, revenue
for specific products or our relationships with our vendors. Our relationships with our vendors and suppliers have remained consistent and we continue to
receive utmost service. Remote working arrangements have not adversely affected our ability to maintain and support operations, including financial
reporting systems, internal controls over financial reporting, and disclosure controls and procedures.

We believe our access to capital, the cost of our capital, or the sources and uses of our cash should be relatively consistent in the near term, but given
the unprecedented nature of COVID-19, we also believe, it is prudent for us to take a broad-based approach to ensuring we maintain financial flexibility
throughout the expected duration of the pandemic. We have, as part of a larger plan, taken steps to reduce overall expenses throughout 2020. For example,
discretionary spending, such as growth capital expenditures (primarily cemetery inventory development) will be tightly managed and minimized during this
time. Moreover, our executive officers and non-employee directors voluntarily agreed to temporary reductions in salary compensation from April 19, 2020
through June 28, 2020. While the expected duration of the pandemic is unknown, we have not currently experienced any material negative impacts to our
liquidity position, access to capital, or cash flows as a result of COVID-19. See Liquidity within Item 2, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, for additional information related to our liquidity position.

We have also applied certain measures of the CARES Act, which was enacted on March 27, 2020, which has provided a cash benefit in the form of
tax payment refunds (we received the 2018 tax year refund on August 7, 2020 and anticipate a further refund for tax year 2019), tax credits related to
employee retention, cash deferral for the employer portion of the Social Security tax and anticipated minimal cash taxes for 2020. Although we expect to
take advantage of certain tax relief provisions of the CARES Act, we do not believe it will have a significant impact on our short-term or long-term
liquidity position. See Item 1, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, Note 1 for additional information related to the CARES Act.

The COVID-19 pandemic, and related gathering restrictions issued by state and local officials, did impact aspects of our financial results in the third
quarter and year to date, including revenue, volume, preneed cemetery sales, and average revenue per contract. We will continue to assess these impacts
and implement appropriate procedures, plans, strategy, and issue any disclosures that may be required, as the situation surrounding the pandemic and
related gathering restrictions evolves.

Funeral Home Operations

Our funeral homes offer a complete range of high value personal services to meet a family’s funeral needs, including consultation, the removal and
preparation of remains, the sale of caskets and related funeral merchandise, the use of funeral home facilities for visitation and remembrance services and
transportation services. Factors affecting our funeral operating results include, but are not limited to: demographic trends relating to population growth and
average age, which impact death rates and number of deaths; establishing and maintaining leading market share positions supported by strong local heritage
and relationships; effectively responding to increasing cremation trends by selling complementary services and merchandise; controlling salary and
merchandise costs; and exercising pricing leverage to increase average revenue per contract.

Cemetery Operations

Our cemeteries provide interment rights (grave sites and mausoleum spaces) and related merchandise, such as markers and outer burial containers
both on an atneed and preneed basis. Factors affecting our cemetery operating results include, but are not limited to: the size and success of our sales
organization; local perceptions and heritage of our cemeteries; our ability to adapt to changes in the economy and consumer confidence; and our response
to fluctuations in capital markets and interest rates, which affect investment earnings on trust funds, finance charges on installment contracts and our
securities portfolio within the trust funds.

Business Strategy

Our business strategy is based on strong, local leadership with entrepreneurial principles that is focused on sustainable long-term market share,
revenue, and profitability growth in each local business. We believe Carriage has the most innovative operating model in the funeral and cemetery industry,
which we are able to achieve through a decentralized, high-performance culture and operating framework linked with incentive compensation programs
that attract top-quality talent to our organization.
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Our Mission Statement states that “we are committed to being the most professional, ethical and highest quality funeral and cemetery service
organization in our industry” and our Guiding Principles state our core values, which are comprised of:

. Honesty, Integrity and Quality in All That We Do

. Hard work, Pride of Accomplishment, and Shared Success Through Employee Ownership
. Belief in the Power of People Through Individual Initiative and Teamwork

. Outstanding Service and Profitability Go Hand-in-Hand

. Growth of the Company Is Driven by Decentralization and Partnership

Our five Guiding Principles collectively embody our Being The Best high-performance culture, operating framework. Our operations and business
strategy are built upon the execution of the following three models:

. Standards Operating Model
. 4E Leadership Model
. Strategic Acquisition Model

Our belief in our Mission Statement and Guiding Principles that define us and proper execution of the following three models that define our strategy,
have given us the competitive advantage in any market in which we compete. We believe that we can execute our three models without proportionate
incremental investment in our consolidation platform infrastructure and fixed regional and corporate overhead. This gives us a competitive advantage that
is evidenced by the sustained earning power of our portfolio as defined by our earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”)
margin (a non-GAAP measure).

Standards Operating Model

Our Standards Operating Model is focused on growing local market share, providing personalized high-value services to our client families and
guests, and operating financial metrics that drive long-term, sustainable revenue growth and improved earning power of our portfolio of businesses by
employing leadership and entrepreneurial principles that fit the nature of our high-value personal service business. Standards Achievement is the measure
by which we judge the success of each business and incentivize our local managers and their teams. Our Standards Operating Model is not designed to
produce maximum short-term earnings because we believe such performance is unsustainable and will ultimately stress the business, which very often
leads to declining market share, revenue and earnings.

4E Leadership Model

Our 4E Leadership Model requires strong local leadership in each business to grow an entrepreneurial, decentralized, high-value, personal service and
sales business at sustainable profit margins. Our 4E Leadership Model is based upon principles established by the late Jack Welch during his tenure at
General Electric, and is based upon 4E qualities essential to succeed in a high-performance culture: Energy to get the job done; the ability to Energize
others; the Edge necessary to make difficult decisions; and the ability to Execute and produce results. To achieve a high level within our Standards in a
business year after year, we require local Managing Partners that have the 4E Leadership skills to entrepreneurially grow the business by hiring, training
and developing highly motivated and productive local teams.

Strategic Acquisition Model

Our Standards Operating Model led to the development of our Strategic Acquisition Model, which guides our acquisition strategy. We believe that
both models, when executed effectively, will drive long-term, sustainable increases in market share, revenue, earnings and cash flow. We believe a primary
driver of higher revenue and profits in the future will be the execution of our Strategic Acquisition Model using strategic ranking criteria to assess
acquisition candidates. As we execute this strategy over time, we expect to acquire larger, higher margin strategic businesses.

We have learned that the long-term growth or decline of a local branded funeral and cemetery business is reflected by several criteria that correlate
strongly with five to ten-year performance in volumes (market share), revenue and sustainable field-level EBITDA margins. We use criteria such as cultural
alignment, volume and price trends, size of business, size of market, competitive standing, demographics, strength of brand and barriers to entry to evaluate
the strategic position of potential acquisition candidates. Our financial valuation of the acquisition candidate is then determined through the application of
an appropriate after-tax cash return on investment that exceeds our cost of capital.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview

Our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are internally generated cash flows from operating activities and availability under our Credit
Facility.

We generate cash in our operations primarily from atneed sales and delivery of preneed sales. We also generate cash from earnings on our cemetery
perpetual care trusts. Based on our recent operating results, current cash position, cost reductions in 2020, and anticipated future cash flows, we do not
anticipate any significant liquidity constraints in the foreseeable future. However, if our capital expenditures, acquisition or divestiture plans, or business
impacts from the pandemic change, we may need to access the capital markets to obtain additional funding. Further, to the extent operating cash flow or
access to and cost of financing sources are materially different than expected, future liquidity may be adversely affected. For additional information
regarding known material factors that could cause cash flow or access to and cost of finance sources to differ from our expectations, please read (i) Part II,
Item 1A “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and (ii) Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

Our plan is to remain focused on integrating our newly acquired businesses and to use cash on hand and borrowings under our Credit Facility
primarily for general corporate purposes and for payment of dividends and our debt obligations. Discretionary spending, such as internal growth projects
and expenditures (primarily cemetery inventory development, along with funeral home expansion projects) will be tightly managed and minimized during
the remainder of 2020. We also expect increased divestiture activity in the next 12 months, which will yield additional cash from the proceeds of the sale.
From time to time we may also use available cash resources (including borrowings under our Credit Facility) to, subject to satisfying certain financial
covenants in our Credit Facility, repurchase shares of our common stock and our remaining Convertible Notes in open market or privately negotiated
transactions. We have the ability to draw on our Credit Facility, subject to its customary terms and conditions.

As of September 30, 2020, we have net unrealized losses of $7.3 million in our trusts. At September 30, 2020, these net unrealized losses represented
3% of our original cost basis of $245.8 million. Our trusts have been and continue to be impacted by current market conditions in the U.S. and global
financial markets. The decline in fair value is largely due to changes in interest rates and other market conditions. Our investments are diversified across
multiple industry segments using a balanced allocation strategy to minimize long-term risk. In addition, we do not intend to sell and it is likely that we will
not be required to sell the securities prior to their anticipated recovery. Changes in unrealized gains and/or losses related to these securities are reflected in
Other comprehensive income and offset by the Deferred preneed funeral and cemetery receipts held in trust and Care trusts’ corpus interests in those
unrealized gains and/or losses. There is no impact on earnings until such time that the loss is realized in the trusts, allocated to the preneed contracts and the
services are performed or the merchandise is delivered, causing the contract to be withdrawn from the trust in accordance with state regulations.

We rely on our trust investments to provide funding for the various contractual obligations that arise upon maturity of the underlying preneed
contracts. Because of the long-term relationship between the establishment of trust investments and the required performance of the underlying contractual
obligations, the impact of current market conditions that may exist at any given time is not necessarily indicative of our ability to generate profit on our
future performance obligations.

In light of recent developments relating to COVID-19, we believe that our existing and anticipated cash resources will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated working capital requirements, capital expenditures, scheduled debt payments, commitments and dividends for the next 12 months.
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Cash Flows

We began 2020 with $0.7 million in cash and other liquid investments and ended the third quarter with $0.7 million. As of September 30, 2020, we
had borrowings of $56.0 million outstanding on our Credit Facility compared to $83.8 million as of December 31, 2019. During the three months ended
September 30, 2020, we reduced the outstanding borrowings on our Credit Facility by $33.7 million.

The following table sets forth the elements of cash flow for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 (in thousands):

Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Cash at beginning of year $ 644 $ 716
Net cash provided by operating activities 36,061 67,822
Acquisitions — (28,011)
Proceeds from insurance reimbursements 1,247 97
Proceeds from divestitures and sale of other assets 967 7,416
Capital expenditures (11,479) (10,034)
Net cash used in investing activities (9,265) (30,532)
Net borrowings (payments) on our Credit Facility, acquisition debt and finance lease obligations (10,470) (28,860)
Payment of debt issuance costs related to long-term debt (113) —
Repurchase of the Convertibles Notes 27) (4,563)
Payment of transaction costs related to the repurchase of the Convertibles Notes — (12)
Payment of debt issuance costs related to the Senior Notes — (66)
Net proceeds from employee equity plans 961 640
Dividends paid on common stock (4,061) (4,251)
Purchase of treasury stock (7,756) —
Other financing costs (162) (169)
Net cash used in financing activities (21,628) (37,281)
Cash at end of the period $ 5,812 $ 725

Operating Activities

For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, cash provided by operating activities was $67.8 million compared to $36.1 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2019. The increase of $31.7 million is a reflection of the resilient cash generating ability of our portfolio of high-quality
funeral home and cemetery operations. Our operating income (excluding the non-cash $19.6 million net loss on divestitures and impairment charges)
increased $15.8 million in addition to other favorable working capital changes.

Investing Activities

Our investing activities, resulted in a net cash outflow of $30.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $9.3 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2019, an increase of $21.2 million.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we acquired a funeral home and cemetery combination business in Lafayette, California for $33.0
million in cash, of which $5.0 million was deposited in escrow in 2019 and $28.0 million was paid at closing in 2020. We also paid an additional $0.2
million for our acquisition of the cemetery business in Fairfax, Virginia to reimburse the sellers for certain incremental taxes resulting from the 338(h)(10)
election under the Internal Revenue Code, which was offset by the receipt of $0.2 million in cash related to the sellers closing all operating bank accounts
in place prior to the acquisition.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we sold six funeral homes for $7.3 million and we sold real property for $0.1 million.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we received proceeds of $0.1 million from our property insurance policy for the reimbursement
of renovation costs for our cemetery businesses that were damaged by Hurricane Michael.
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, capital expenditures totaled $10.0 million compared to $11.5 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019, a decrease of $1.5 million. The following tables present our growth and maintenance capital expenditures (in thousands):
Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Growth
Cemetery development $ 3,109 $ 3,321
Renovations at certain businesses 2,091 673
Live streaming equipment 42 560
Other 56 86
Total growth expenditures $ 5298 % 4,640
Maintenance
Facility repairs and improvements $ 1,565 $ 1,610
Vehicles 1,641 1,201
General equipment and furniture 2,245 1,957
Paving roads and parking lots 651 475
Other 79 151
Total maintenance expenditures $ 6,181 $ 5,394
Total capital expenditures $ 11,479  § 10,034
Financing Activities

Our financing activities resulted in a net cash inflow of $37.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to a net cash outflow
of $21.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019, an increase of $15.7 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we had
net payments on our Credit Facility, acquisition debt and finance leases of $28.9 million, paid $4.3 million in dividends and paid $4.6 million for the
repurchases of our Convertible Notes.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, we had net payments on our Credit Facility, acquisition debt and finance leases of $10.5 million,
paid $4.1 million in dividends and repurchased treasury stock for $7.8 million.

Dividends

During the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, our Board declared the following dividends payable on the dates below (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

2019 Per Share Dollar Value

March 1 $ 0.0750 $ 1,360
June 1% $ 0.0750 § 1,365
September 1 $ 0.0750 $ 1,336
2020 Per Share Dollar Value

March 1* $ 0.0750 $ 1,339
June 1% $ 0.0750 § 1,343
September 1% $ 0.0875 $ 1,569

Share Repurchases

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we did not repurchase any shares of common stock pursuant to our share repurchase program. At
September 30, 2020, we had approximately $25.6 million available for repurchases under our share repurchase program.
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Credit Facility, Lease Obligations and Acquisition Debt

The outstanding principal of our Credit Facility, lease obligations and acquisition debt at September 30, 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

September 30, 2020
Credit Facility $ 56,000
Finance leases 5,929
Operating leases 22,016
Acquisition debt 6,119
Total $ 90,064

Credit Facility

At September 30, 2020, our Credit Facility was comprised of: (i) a $190.0 million revolving credit facility, including a $15.0 million subfacility for
letters of credit and a $10.0 million swingline, and (ii) an accordion or incremental option allowing for future increases in the facility size by an additional
amount of up to $75.0 million in the form of increased revolving commitments or incremental term loans. The final maturity of the Credit Facility will
occur on May 31, 2023.

The Credit Facility is secured by a first-priority perfected security interest in and lien on substantially all of the Company’s personal property assets
and those of the Credit Facility Guarantors. In the event the Company’s actual Total Leverage Ratio is not at least 0.25 less than the required Total
Leverage Ratio covenant level, at the discretion of the Administrative Agent, the Administrative Agent may unilaterally compel the Company and the
Credit Facility Guarantors to grant and perfect first-priority mortgage liens on fee-owned real property assets which account for no less than 50% of funeral
operations EBITDA.

As of September 30, 2020, we were subject to the following financial covenants under our Credit Facility: (A) a Total Leverage Ratio not to exceed,
(1) 5.75 to 1.00 for the quarters ended March 31, 2020, June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2020 and (ii) 5.50 to 1.00 for the quarter ended December 31,
2020 and each quarter ended thereafter, (B) a Senior Secured Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Facility) not to exceed 2.00 to 1.00 as of the end of
any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters, and (C) a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Facility) of not less than 1.20 to 1.00 as of
the end of any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters. These financial maintenance covenants are calculated for the Company and its subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis.

On August 7, 2020, we obtained a limited consent from the lenders under our Credit Facility in connection with our privately-negotiated repurchases
of our Convertible Notes.

We were in compliance with the total leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio and senior secured leverage ratio covenants contained in our Credit
Facility as of September 30, 2020.

We have one letter of credit outstanding under the Credit Facility issued on November 30, 2019 for approximately $2.0 million, which was increased
to $2.1 million on September 29, 2020. The letter of credit bears interest at 3.125% and will expire on November 25, 2020. The letter of credit
automatically renews annually and secures our obligations under our various self-insured policies. Outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facility bear
interest at either a prime rate or a LIBOR rate, plus an applicable margin based upon our leverage ratio. As of September 30, 2020, the prime rate margin
was equivalent to 2.00% and the LIBOR rate margin was 3.00%. The weighted average interest rate on our Credit Facility was 3.9% for both the three
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 and 3.9% and 4.0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

The interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs related to our Credit Facility during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019
and 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Credit Facility interest expense $ 350 $ 828 § 1,000 $ 3,164
Credit Facility amortization of debt issuance costs 59 118 167 363
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Lease Obligations

Our lease obligations consist of operating and finance leases. We lease certain office facilities, certain funeral homes and equipment under operating
leases with original terms ranging from one to nineteen years. Many leases include one or more options to renew, some of which include options to extend
the leases for up to 26 years. We lease certain funeral homes under finance leases with original terms ranging from ten to forty years.

The lease cost related to our operating leases and short-term leases and depreciation expense and interest expense related to our finance leases during
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Operating lease cost $ 899 § 927 $ 2,762 $ 2,838
Short-term lease cost 73 52 206 148
Finance lease cost:
Depreciation of lease right-of-use assets $ 131 $ 1 395§ 329
Interest on lease liabilities 129 123 392 374

Acquisition Debt

Acquisition debt consists of deferred purchase price and promissory notes payable to sellers. A majority of the deferred purchase price and notes bear
no interest and are discounted at imputed interest rates ranging from 7.3% to 10.0%. Original maturities range from five to twenty years.

The imputed interest expense related to our acquisition debt during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 is as follows (in
thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Acquisition debt imputed interest expense $ 152 $ 122 3 481 $ 373

Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2021

On September 9, 2020, we completed privately-negotiated repurchases (the ‘“Repurchases”) of $3.8 million in aggregate principal amount of
Convertible Notes for $4.5 million in cash (plus accrued interest of $0.1 million totaling $4.6 million) and recorded $0.8 million for the reacquisition of the
equity component. The Repurchases represented approximately 60% of the aggregate principal amount of Convertible Notes then outstanding. Following
the settlement of the Repurchases, the aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Notes was reduced to approximately $2.6 million.

At September 30, 2020, the principal amount of the liability component of our Convertible Notes was $2.6 million, the net carrying amount was $2.5
million and the carrying amount of the equity component was $0.3 million. The fair value of the Convertible Notes, which are Level 2 measurements, was
$2.9 million at September 30, 2020. The Convertible Notes are due in March 2021 and bear interest at 2.75% per year, which is payable semi-annually in
arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year.

The interest expense and accretion of debt discount and debt issuance costs related to our Convertible Notes during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Convertible Notes interest expense $ 43 3 43 3 131 $ 130
Convertible Notes accretion of debt discount 61 69 178 200
Convertible Notes amortization of debt issuance costs 6 9 19 21

The remaining unamortized debt discount and the remaining unamortized debt issuance costs are being amortized using the effective interest method
over the remaining term of approximately five months of the Convertible Notes. The effective interest rate on the unamortized debt discount for both the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 was 11.4%. The effective interest rate on the debt issuance costs for both the three months
ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 was 3.2% and for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 was 3.2% and 3.1%, respectively.
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Senior Notes due 2026

At September 30, 2020, the principal amount of our Senior Notes was $400.0 million. The fair value of the Senior Notes, which are Level 2
measurements, was $422.3 million at September 30, 2020. The Senior Notes are due on June 1, 2026 and bear interest at 6.625% per year, which is payable
semi-annually in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year.

The interest expense and amortization of debt discount, debt premium and debt issuance costs related to our Senior Notes during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Senior Notes interest expense $ 5383 $ 6,625 $ 16,148 $ 19,875
Senior Notes amortization of debt discount 124 133 367 393
Senior Notes amortization of debt premium — 56 — 165
Senior Notes amortization of debt issuance costs 35 72 103 208

The debt discount, the debt premium and the debt issuance costs are being amortized using the effective interest method over the remaining term of
approximately 68 months of the Senior Notes. The effective interest rate on the unamortized debt discount and the unamortized debt issuance costs for the
initial Senior Notes, which were issued in May 2018, for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was 6.87% and 6.69%, respectively.
The effective interest rate on the unamortized debt premium and the unamortized debt issuance costs for the additional Senior Notes, which were issued in
December 2019, for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was 6.20% and 6.90%, respectively.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Below are our financial highlights for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 (in thousands except for volumes and averages):
Three months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Revenue $ 66,125 $ 84,393
Funeral contracts 9,238 11,512
Average revenue per funeral contract $ 5,516 $ 5,194
Preneed interment rights (property) sold 1,901 2,655
Average price per preneed interment right sold $ 3,622 $ 3,662
Gross profit $ 18,056 $ 27,874
Net income $ 577 $ 5,525

Revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2020 increased $18.3 million compared to the three months ended September 30, 2019, as we
experienced a 24.6% increase in total funeral contracts primarily due to the funeral home acquisitions made in the fourth quarter of 2019 and first quarter of
2020, as well as increases from broad market share gains and death rate growth related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Volume growth was offset by a
decrease in the average revenue per funeral contract of 5.8%. In addition, we experienced an increase of 39.7% in the number of preneed interment rights
(property) sold primarily due to the cemetery acquisitions made in the fourth quarter of 2019 and first quarter of 2020, as well as an increase in the average
price per interment right sold of 1.1%.

Gross profit for the three months ended September 30, 2020 increased $9.8 million compared to the three months ended September 30, 2019,
primarily due to the increase in revenue from both our funeral home and cemetery segments due to the acquisitions made in the fourth quarter of 2019 and
first quarter of 2020, as well as cost reduction measures implemented prior to and during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Net income for the three months ended September 30, 2020 increased $4.9 million compared to the three months ended September 30, 2019,
primarily due to the increase in gross profit, offset by the increase in interest expense related to our Senior Notes and Credit Facility.
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Below are our financial highlights for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 (in thousands except for volumes and averages):
Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Revenue $ 202,958 $ 239,360
Funeral contracts 28,485 34,742
Average revenue per funeral contract $ 5,571 $ 5,110
Preneed interment rights (property) sold 5,419 6,861
Average price per preneed interment right sold $ 3,687 $ 3,805
Gross profit $ 58,907 $ 76,205
Net income $ 11,964 $ 7,725

Revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 increased $36.4 million compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019, as we
experienced a 22.0% increase in total funeral contracts primarily due to the funeral home acquisitions made in the fourth quarter of 2019 and first quarter of
2020, as well as increases from broad market share gains and death rate growth related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Volume growth was offset by a
decrease in the average revenue per funeral contract of 8.3%. In addition, we experienced an increase of 26.6% in the number of preneed interment rights
(property) sold primarily due to the cemetery acquisitions made in the fourth quarter of 2019 and first quarter of 2020, as well as an increase of 3.2% in the
average price per interment right sold.

Gross profit for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 increased $17.3 million compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019,
primarily due to the increase in revenue from both our funeral home and cemetery segments due to the acquisitions made in the fourth quarter of 2019 and
first quarter of 2020, as well as cost reduction measures implemented prior to and during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 decreased $4.2 million compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019, primarily
due to the $19.6 million net loss on divestitures and impairment charges and $5.9 million increase in interest expense related to our Senior Notes and Credit
facility, offset by the increase in gross profit.

Further discussion of Revenue and the components of Gross profit for our funeral home and cemetery segments is presented herein under “— Results
of Operations.”

Further discussion of General, administrative and other expenses, Home office depreciation and amortization expense, Interest expense, Income taxes
and other components of income and expenses are presented herein under “— Other Financial Statement Items.”
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REPORTING AND NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

We also present our financial performance in our “Operating and Financial Trend Report” (“Trend Report™) as reported in our earnings release for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 dated October 27, 2020 and discussed in the corresponding earnings conference call. The Trend Report is
used as a supplemental financial statement by management and investors to compare our current financial performance with our previous results and with
the performance of other companies. We do not intend for this information to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for other measures of performance
prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The Trend Report is a non-GAAP statement that also
provides insight into underlying trends in our business.

Below is a reconciliation of Net income (a GAAP measure) to Adjusted net income (a non-GAAP measure) for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2020 (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Net income $ 577 $ 5525 § 11,964 $ 7,725
Special items, net of tax("
Acquisition and divestiture expenses — — — 126
Severance and separation costs 235 — 889 445
Performance awards cancellation and exchange — 84 — 140
Accretion of discount on Convertible Notes(" 61 69 178 200
Net loss on divestitures and other costs® 3,143 3,245 3,143 3,245
Net impact of impairment of goodwill and other intangibles® 577 — 577 9,808
Litigation reserve 74 — 454 213
Natural disaster and pandemic costs — 268 — 1,036
Tax expense related to divested business" 860 — 860 —
Gain on insurance reimbursements (504) — (504) —
Other special items — (47) — 324
Adjusted net income® $ 5,023 $ 9,144 $ 17,561 $ 23,262

(1) Special items are defined as charges or credits included in our GAAP financial statements that can vary from period to period and are not reflective of costs incurred
in the ordinary course of our operations. Special Items are taxed at the federal statutory rate of 21.0% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and
2020, except for the Accretion of the discount on Convertible Notes, as this is a non-tax deductible item and Tax expense related to divested business, the Net impact
of impairment of goodwill and other intangibles and the Net loss on divestitures and other costs (described below).

(2) The Net loss on divestitures and other costs and The Net impact of impairment of goodwill and other intangibles special items are net of the federal statutory rate of
21.0% in 2019 and are net of the operating tax rate of approximately 34.0% in 2020.

(3) Adjusted net income is defined as Net income plus adjustments for Special items and other expenses or gains that we believe do not directly reflect our core
operations and may not be indicative of our normal business operations.

Below is a reconciliation of Gross profit (a GAAP measure) to Operating profit (a non-GAAP measure) for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2020 (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Gross profit $ 18,056 $ 27,874 $ 58907 $ 76,205
Cemetery property amortization 972 1,471 2,990 3,445
Field depreciation expense 3,106 3,233 9,250 9,770
Regional and unallocated funeral and cemetery costs 3,597 4,731 10,008 11,204
Operating profit) $ 25,731 $ 37,309 $ 81,155 § 100,624

(1) Operating profit is defined as Gross profit less Cemetery property amortization, Field depreciation expense and Regional and unallocated funeral and cemetery costs.
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Our operations are reported in two business segments: Funeral Home and Cemetery. Below is a breakdown of Operating profit (a non-GAAP
measure) by Segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020 (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Funeral Home $ 19,647  $ 25,636  $ 63,234  $ 75,462
Cemetery 6,084 11,673 17,921 25,162
Operating profit $ 25,731 $ 37,309 $ 81,155 $ 100,624
Operating profit margin® 38.9% 44.2% 40.0% 42.0%

(1) Operating profit margin is defined as Operating profit as a percentage of Revenue.

Further discussion of Operating profit for our funeral home and cemetery segments is presented herein under “— Results of Operations.”

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following is a discussion of our results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.

The term “same store” refers to funeral homes and cemeteries acquired prior to January 1, 2016 and owned and operated for the entirety of each
period being presented, excluding certain funeral home and cemetery businesses that we intend to divest in the near future.

The term “acquired” refers to funeral homes and cemeteries purchased after December 31, 2015, excluding any funeral home and cemetery
businesses that we intend to divest in the near future. This classification of acquisitions has been important to management and investors in monitoring the
results of these businesses and to gauge the leveraging performance contribution that a selective acquisition program can have on total company
performance.

The term “divested” when discussed in the Funeral Home Segment, refers to the six funeral homes we sold in 2020 and three funeral homes whose
building leases expired, one funeral home we sold and a funeral home we merged with a funeral home in an existing market in 2019.

“Planned divested” refers to the funeral home and cemetery businesses that we intend to divest in the near future.
“Ancillary funeral services” in the Funeral Home Segment represents our flower shop, pet cremation business and online cremation business in Texas.

Cemetery property amortization, Field depreciation expense and Regional and unallocated funeral and cemetery costs, are not included in Operating
profit, a non-GAAP financial measure. Adding back these items will result in Gross profit, a GAAP financial measure.
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Funeral Home Segment

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our Revenue and Operating profit from our funeral home operations for the three months

ended September 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2019 (in thousands):

Revenue:
Same store operating revenue
Acquired operating revenue
Divested/planned divested revenue
Ancillary funeral services revenue
Preneed funeral insurance commissions
Preneed funeral trust and insurance

Total

Operating profit:
Same store operating profit
Acquired operating profit
Divested/planned divested operating profit
Ancillary funeral services operating profit
Preneed funeral insurance commissions
Preneed funeral trust and insurance

Total

The following measures reflect the significant metrics over this comparative period:

Same store:

Contract volume

Average revenue per contract, excluding preneed funeral trust earnings
Average revenue per contract, including preneed funeral trust earnings
Burial rate

Cremation rate

Acquired:

Contract volume

Average revenue per contract, excluding preneed funeral trust earnings
Average revenue per contract, including preneed funeral trust earnings
Burial rate

Cremation rate

Three months ended September 30,

2019 2020
40,824 44,444
6,100 11,702
2,500 1,731
— 1,196
436 369
1,657 1,992
51,517 61,434
15,124 18,236
2,297 4,699
398 290
— 292
213 159
1,615 1,960
19,647 25,636
Three months ended September 30,

2019 2020
7,725 8,923
5,285 $ 4,981
5,472 $ 5,175

37.4 % 353 %
54.9 % 57.6 %
922 2,165
6,616 $ 5,405
6,706 $ 5,489
48.5 % 40.5 %
44.4 % 54.0 %

Funeral home same store operating revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2020 increased $3.6 million compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2019. The increase in operating revenue is primarily due to a 15.5% same store contract volume increase in the three months ended
September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. The increase in contract volume is due to market share gains in a majority of our markets, in
addition to the increased deaths related to COVID-19. This increase was offset by a 5.8% decrease in the average revenue per contract, excluding preneed
interest, for the same period, primarily due to a 210 basis point decrease in the burial rate. In addition, in the three months ended September 30, 2020
compared to the same period in 2019, we experienced a decrease in services performed due to the restrictions placed on gatherings mandated by state and

local governments due to COVID-19.

Funeral home same store operating profit for the three months ended September 30, 2020 increased $3.1 million when compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2019, and the comparable operating profit margin increased 400 basis points to 41.0%. The increase in operating margin is primarily

due to the increase in same store operating revenue and
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disciplined expense and cost management by local leaders at each business. Same store salaries and benefits increased $0.5 million due to an increase of
$0.5 million in group health care costs related to higher claims and an increase of $0.3 million in the demand for pickup and embalming services due to
increased contracts, offset by a decrease of $0.2 million in part-time funeral staff needed to assist with memorial services and a decrease of $0.1 million in
full time salaries. While salaries and benefits increased, we experienced decreases in the majority of our other operating costs for the three months ended
September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019.

Funeral home acquired operating revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2020 increased $5.6 million, as our funeral home acquired
portfolio for the three months ended September 30, 2020 included nine funeral home businesses added through three acquisitions in the fourth quarter of
2019 and one business acquired in the first quarter of 2020 not present in the three months ended September 30, 2019.

Acquired operating profit for the three months ended September 30, 2020 increased $2.4 million when compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2019, and the comparable operating profit margin increased 250 basis points to 40.2%. The increase is primarily due to disciplined expense
and cost management by local leaders at each business. The increase is slightly offset by lower margins for our businesses acquired in the fourth quarter of
2019 compared to our other acquired businesses, particularly with regard to higher salaries and benefits expenses. We expect the operating margins for
these businesses to improve as we focus on integrating them into our high performance framework of the Standards Operating Model.

Ancillary funeral services revenue, which is recorded in Other revenue, represents revenue from our flower shop, pet cremation and online cremation
businesses in Texas, which were acquired in the fourth quarter of 2019. Operating profit from our ancillary funeral service businesses was $0.3 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2020, with an operating profit margin of 24.4%.

Preneed funeral insurance commissions and preneed funeral trust and insurance, also recorded in Other revenue, on a combined basis, increased $0.3
million or 12.8% for the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. The increase is primarily related to a 20.2%
increase in preneed contracts maturing to at-need during the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019, which triggers
the recognition of trust earnings on the matured contracts. Operating profit for preneed funeral insurance commissions and preneed trust and insurance, on a
combined basis, increased $0.3 million or 15.9% for the same comparative period, primarily due to the increase in funeral trust and insurance revenue.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our Revenue and Operating profit from our funeral home operations for the nine months
ended September 30, 2020 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019 (in thousands):

Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Revenue:
Same store operating revenue $ 126,549  § 130,755
Acquired operating revenue 19,133 34,561
Divested/planned divested revenue 8,155 6,781
Ancillary funeral services revenue — 3,464
Preneed funeral insurance commissions 1,124 1,061
Preneed funeral trust and insurance 5,226 5,676
Total $ 160,187  § 182,298
Operating profit:
Same store operating profit $ 48,563 $ 53,233
Acquired operating profit 7,460 13,599
Divested/planned divested operating profit 1,632 1,663
Ancillary funeral services operating profit — 908
Preneed funeral insurance commissions 479 479
Preneed funeral trust and insurance 5,100 5,580
Total $ 63,234 § 75,462
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The following measures reflect the significant metrics over this comparative period:
Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Same store:
Contract volume 23,690 26,263
Average revenue per contract, excluding preneed funeral trust earnings $ 5,342 $ 4,979
Average revenue per contract, including preneed funeral trust earnings $ 5,532 $ 5,167
Burial rate 383 % 36.0 %
Cremation rate 53.9 % 56.8 %
Acquired:
Contract volume 2,888 6,681
Average revenue per contract, excluding preneed funeral trust earnings $ 6,625 $ 5,173
Average revenue per contract, including preneed funeral trust earnings $ 6,741 $ 5,247
Burial rate 48.5 % 40.9 %
Cremation rate 44.5 % 542 %

Funeral home same store operating revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 increased $4.2 million compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2019. The increase in operating revenue is due to a 10.9% same store contract volume increase which is due to market share gains in a
majority of our markets, in addition to the increased deaths related to COVID-19. This increase was offset by a 6.8% decrease in average revenue per
contract, excluding preneed interest, primarily due to a 230 basis point decrease in the burial rate. Beginning in the latter half of March 2020, we saw a
decrease in services performed due to the restrictions placed on gatherings mandated by state and local governments as the COVID-19 pandemic became
more prominent and individuals began to practice social distancing to comply with applicable shelter in place and related orders. During the third quarter of
2020, we experienced an increase in memorial services compared to the second quarter of 2020, as social distancing restrictions were eased in certain
jurisdictions. In addition, our Managing Partners continued to show innovation by creating high value, uniquely customized personal services and sales in
challenging local environments.

Funeral home same store operating profit for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 increased $4.7 million when compared to the nine months
ended September 30, 2019, and the comparable operating profit margin increased 230 basis points to 40.7%. The increase in operating margin is primarily
due to the increase in same store operating revenue and a $0.5 million or 0.6% decrease in operating costs of which the largest decreases were in part-time
funeral staff needed to assist with memorial services, promotional costs, facilities and ground expenses and transportation costs. These decreases were as a
result of disciplined expense and cost management by local leaders at each business. The decreases were partially offset by an increase in the demand for
pickup and embalming services due to increased contracts and an increase in group health care costs related to higher claims in the nine months ended
September 30, 2020.

Funeral home acquired operating revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 increased $15.4 million, as our funeral home acquired
portfolio for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 included nine funeral home businesses added through three acquisitions in the fourth quarter of
2019 and one business acquired in the first quarter of 2020 not present in the nine months ended September 30, 2019.

Acquired operating profit for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 increased $6.1 million when compared to the nine months ended September
30, 2019. Operating profit margin increased slightly by 30 basis points to 39.3%. We experienced an increase in margin despite the lower operating profit
margins of the recently acquired businesses (discussed above), as operating profit margin for these businesses were lower compared to our other acquired
businesses, particularly with regard to higher salaries and benefits. We expect the operating margins for our recently acquired businesses to increase as we
focus on integrating them into our high performance framework of the Standards Operating model.

Ancillary funeral services revenue, which is recorded in Other revenue, represents revenue from our flower shop, pet cremation and online cremation
businesses in Texas, which were acquired in the fourth quarter of 2019. Operating profit from our ancillary funeral service businesses was $0.9 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2020, with an operating profit margin of 26.2%.

Preneed funeral insurance commissions and preneed funeral trust and insurance, also recorded in Other revenue, on a combined basis, increased $0.4
million or 6.1% for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. The increase is due to a 10.1% increase in preneed
contracts maturing to at-need during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019, which triggers the recognition of
trust earnings on the matured contracts.
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Operating profit for preneed funeral insurance commissions and preneed trust and insurance, on a combined basis, increased $0.5 million or 8.6% for the
same comparative period in 2019, primarily due to the increase in revenue and reduction of preneed trust and insurance expenses.

Cemetery Segment

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our Revenue and Operating profit from our cemetery operations for the three months
ended September 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2019 (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Revenue:
Same store operating revenue $ 12,768  $ 14,393
Acquired operating revenue — 5,220
Divested/planned divested revenue 65 116
Preneed cemetery trust and insurance 1,430 3,016
Preneed cemetery finance charges 345 214
Total $ 14,608  § 22,959
Operating profit:
Same store operating profit $ 4464 $ 6,175
Acquired operating profit — 2,335
Divested/planned divested operating profit ) 40
Preneed cemetery trust and insurance 1,284 2,909
Preneed cemetery finance charges 345 214
Total $ 6,084 3 11,673

The following measures reflect the significant metrics over this comparative period:
Three months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Same store:
Preneed revenue as a percentage of operating revenue 62 % 61 %
Preneed revenue (in thousands) $ 7,885 $ 8,768
Atneed revenue (in thousands) $ 4,383 $ 5,625
Number of preneed interment rights sold 1,901 1,893
Average price per interment right sold $ 3,622 $ 3,529
Acquired:
Preneed revenue as a percentage of operating revenue n/a 70 %
Preneed revenue (in thousands) n/a $ 3,642
Atneed revenue (in thousands) na § 1,578
Number of preneed interment rights sold n/a 748
Average price per interment right sold n/a $ 4,051

Cemetery same store preneed revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2020 increased $0.9 million compared to the same period in 2019.
Although the number of preneed interments sold remained flat and we experienced a 2.6% decrease in the average sale per preneed contract, preneed
property revenue increased $0.4 million or 6.6% primarily due to additional revenue recognized from several memorial gardens under construction that
progressed towards completion during the three months ended September 30, 2020. Preneed merchandise and service revenue increased $0.5 million as we
experienced a 45.6% increase in the deliveries of merchandise and service contracts during the three months ended September 30, 2020. Cemetery same
store atneed revenue, which represents 39.0% of our same store operating revenue increased $0.7 million, as we experienced 21.2% increase in the number
of contracts, offset by a 4.9% decrease in the average sale per contract.
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Cemetery same store operating profit for the three months ended September 30, 2020 increased $1.7 million from the same period in 2019. The
comparable operating profit margin increased 790 basis points to 42.9% primarily as a result of the increase in operating revenue and a 1% decrease in
operating expenses with the most significant decrease of $0.2 million in the allowance for credit losses, as we received an increase in payments on financed
receivables in the third quarter of 2020.

Our acquired cemetery portfolio includes two businesses acquired during the fourth quarter of 2019 and one business acquired during the first quarter
of 2020. These three businesses contributed $5.2 million in operating revenue and $2.3 million in operating profit for the three months ended September
30, 2020.

Preneed cemetery trust and preneed cemetery finance charges, which are recorded in Other revenue, on a combined basis increased $1.5 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. The increase is primarily due to a $0.7 million increase in perpetual care
trust income from our acquired cemetery businesses and a $0.3 million increase in realized capital gains during the quarter. Operating profit for the two
categories of Other revenue, on a combined basis, increased $1.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in
2019, primarily due to the increase in perpetual care trust fund revenue. The increase in our trust fund income is primarily due to our execution of a major
repositioning strategy during and after the COVID-19 market crash in March 2020, substantially increasing our preneed cemetery trust revenue and
operating profit.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our Revenue and Operating profit from our cemetery operations for the nine months
ended September 30, 2020 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019 (in thousands):

Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Revenue:
Same store operating revenue $ 37,157  $ 36,910
Acquired operating revenue — 12,074
Divested/planned divested revenue 230 283
Preneed cemetery trust and insurance 4,266 7,099
Preneed cemetery finance charges 1,118 696
Total $ 42,771  $ 57,062
Operating profit:
Same store operating profit $ 12961 § 12,998
Acquired operating profit — 4,596
Divested/planned divested operating profit 2 87
Preneed cemetery trust and insurance 3,840 6,785
Preneed cemetery finance charges 1,118 696
Total $ 17,921  § 25,162
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The following measures reflect the significant metrics over this comparative period:
Nine months ended September 30,

2019 2020
Same store:
Preneed revenue as a percentage of operating revenue 62 % 60 %
Preneed revenue (in thousands) $ 22,979 $ 22,132
Atneed revenue (in thousands) $ 14,178 $ 14,778
Number of preneed interment rights sold 5,412 5,217
Average price per interment right sold $ 3,690 $ 3,693
Acquired:
Preneed revenue as a percentage of operating revenue n/a 65 %
Preneed revenue (in thousands) na § 7,899
Atneed revenue (in thousands) na § 4,175
Number of preneed interment rights sold n/a 1,600
Average price per interment right sold na $ 4,248

Cemetery same store preneed revenue decreased $0.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019.
We experienced a $1.2 million or 6.2% decrease in preneed property revenue due to a 3.6% decrease in the number of preneed interments rights sold, while
the average price per interment right sold remained flat. The decrease in the number of preneed interment rights sold is primarily due to the COVID-19
pandemic as individuals practiced social distancing to comply with applicable shelter in place and related orders, which resulted in our preneed sales
personnel being unable to meet with families at our businesses, in certain areas of the country. This was most evident in the second quarter of 2020 as these
restrictions affected our ability to host certain annual events such as the Ching Ming festival during April and Memorial Day festivities during May. The
decrease in preneed property revenue was partially offset by a $0.4 million increase in preneed merchandise and service revenue as we experienced a
16.7% increase in the deliveries of merchandise and service contracts during the nine months ended September 30, 2020. Cemetery same store atneed
revenue, which represents 40% of our same store operating revenue, increased $0.6 million as we experienced a 6.5% increase in the number of atneed
contracts, while the average sales per contract decreased 2.1%.

Cemetery same store operating profit for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 remained flat compared to the same period in 2019. The
comparable operating profit margin increased 30 basis points to 35.2% as a result of better management of operating expenses throughout the year.
Operating expense as a percent of operating revenue increased in two categories in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same
period in 2019. Our allowance for credit losses expense and salaries and wages both increased 0.4% as a percentage of revenue. The increase in the
allowance for credit losses is due to slower payments on financed receivables mostly in the second quarter of 2020, particularly in the states most affected
by COVID-19. Salaries and benefits increased due to the addition of field personnel in the fourth quarter of 2019.

Our acquired cemetery portfolio includes two businesses that were acquired during the fourth quarter of 2019 and one business that was acquired
during the first quarter of 2020. These three businesses contributed $12.1 million in operating revenue and $4.6 million in operating profit for the nine
months ended September 30, 2020.

Preneed cemetery trust and preneed cemetery finance charges, which are recorded in Other revenue, on a combined basis increased $2.4 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. The increase was primarily due to a $3.0 million increase in perpetual
care trust fund earnings of which $1.7 million was from acquisitions and a $0.4 million increase in realized gains. These increases were partially offset by a
$0.4 million decrease in finance charge revenue. The decrease in finance charge revenue is primarily due to our enhanced preneed cemetery property sales
strategy of reducing interest rates on preneed contracts. Operating profit for the two categories of Other revenue, on a combined basis, increased $2.5
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 due to the increase in revenue. The increase in our trust fund
income is primarily due to our execution of a major repositioning strategy during and after the COVID-19 market crash in March 2020, substantially
increasing our preneed cemetery trust revenue and operating profit.
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Cemetery property amortization. Cemetery property amortization totaled $1.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of
$0.5 million compared to the three months ended September 30, 2019. The increase in amortization in the third quarter of 2020 is primarily due to the
increase in property sales at the newly acquired cemetery businesses. Cemetery property amortization totaled $3.4 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2020, an increase of $0.5 million compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019. The increase in property sold at our acquired
cemeteries resulted in a $0.7 million increase in amortization expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, while the amortization expense for
our same store businesses decreased $0.2 million due to a decrease in property sales in the period.

Field depreciation. Depreciation expense for our field businesses increased $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to
the three months ended September 30, 2019. Depreciation expense for our field businesses increased $0.5 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2020 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019. The increase was primarily due to additional depreciation expense from assets added as a
result of our acquisitions during the fourth quarter of 2019 and first quarter of 2020.

Regional and unallocated funeral and cemetery costs. Regional and unallocated funeral and cemetery costs consist of salaries and benefits for
regional management, field incentive compensation and other related costs for field infrastructure. Regional and unallocated funeral and cemetery costs
totaled $4.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of $1.1 million primarily due to a $1.2 million increase in incentive and
equity compensation, a $0.3 million increase in health and safety expenses related to the COVID-19 pandemic and a $0.3 million increase in salaries and
benefits, offset by a $0.5 million decrease in severance expense and a $0.2 million decrease in other general administrative costs.

Regional and unallocated funeral and cemetery costs totaled $11.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of $1.2 million
primarily due to a $1.0 million increase in incentive and equity compensation, a $0.9 million increase in health and safety expenses due to the COVID-19
pandemic, a $0.6 million increase in salaries and benefits and a $0.3 million increase related to a state audit assessment, offset by a $1.1 million decrease in
severance expense, a $0.3 million decrease in other general administrative costs and a $0.2 million employee retention credit in connection with the
CARES Act.

Other Financial Statement Items

General, administrative and other. General, administrative and other expenses totaled $6.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, an
increase of $0.4 million compared to the three months ended September 30, 2019. The increase was primarily attributable to an $0.8 million increase in
incentive and equity compensation, offset by a $0.4 million decrease in other general administrative costs.

General, administrative and other expenses totaled $18.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of $1.6 million
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019. The increase was primarily attributable to a $1.2 million increase in incentive and equity
compensation, a $0.5 million increase in salaries, benefits and severance costs, a $0.4 million increase in public company and acquisition costs and a $0.2
million increase in litigation reserve, offset by a $0.7 million decrease in other general administrative costs.

Home office depreciation and amortization. Home office depreciation and amortization expense remained flat at $0.3 million and $1.1 million for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 primarily due to machinery and
equipment at the home office becoming fully depreciated in the latter half of 2019, offset by additional software assets purchased during the fourth quarter
of 2019.

Net loss on divestitures and impairments charges. The components of Net loss on divestitures and impairment charges for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Goodwill impairment $ 509) $ — 3 (509) (13,632)
Tradename impairment (221) — (221) (1,061)
Net loss on divestitures (3,863) (4,917) (3,874) (4,917)
Total $ (4,593) § 4917) § (4,604) § (19,610)

Interest expense. Interest expense totaled $8.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of $1.7 million compared to the
three months ended September 30, 2019. Interest expense totaled $24.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of $5.9 million
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019. The increase was primarily due to increased borrowings on our Credit Facility and the $75.0
million of additional Senior Notes we issued on December 19, 2019.
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Accretion of discount on convertible subordinated notes. We recognized accretion of the discount on our Convertible Notes of $0.1 million for both
the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 and $0.2 million for both the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.

Other, net. The components of Other, net for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2019 2020 2019 2020
Gain on insurance reimbursements related to Hurricane Michael $ 638 $ — 3 638 $ 55
Other income (expense) (121) €)) 52 (63)
Other gain (loss) — (27) — (26)
Total $ 517 § 28) $ 690 § (34)

Income taxes. Our income tax expense was $2.9 million and $0.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively and
$4.2 million and $5.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Our operating tax rate before discrete items was 34.0%
and 61.0% for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively and 33.8% and 31.3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2020
and 2019, respectively.

The increase in our overall effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 is due to the unfavorable tax impact of impairment of
goodwill and other intangibles recorded in the first quarter of 2020 for businesses that were previously acquired through stock acquisitions.

In connection with the CARES Act, we filed a claim for a refund on June 30, 2020, to carryback the net operating losses generated in the tax year
ending December 31, 2018. The refund claim from the 2018 tax year was received on August 7, 2020, and we have included the impact in our current
provision. In an effort to maximize the expected benefits afforded by the CARES Act, we plan to amend our 2018 tax return to include the additional first
year depreciation deduction for qualified improvement property. The majority of the net operating losses generated in 2018 are the result of filing non-
automatic accounting method changes relating to the recognition of revenue from our cemetery property and merchandise and services sales. Due to the
uncertainty of the timing of receiving IRS approval for non-automatic accounting method changes, a reserve has been recorded against the benefit derived
from this carrying back that the net operating losses generated; therefore, for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the reserve for uncertain tax
positions was $2.9 million.

Additionally, we plan to file a claim for a refund for the net operating losses generated in the tax year ending December 31, 2019, in the fourth quarter
of 2020. Although we expect to take advantage of certain tax relief provisions of the CARES Act, we do not believe it will have a significant impact on our
short-term or long-term liquidity position.

OVERVIEW OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the
unaudited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience, third-party data and assumptions that
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of these considerations form the basis for making judgments about the amount and timing
of revenue and expenses, the carrying value of assets and the recorded amounts of liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates and such
estimates may change if the underlying conditions or assumptions change. Historical performance should not be viewed as indicative of future performance
because there can be no assurance that our margins, operating income and net income, as a percentage of revenue, will be consistent from year to year.

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) is based upon our Consolidated Financial
Statements presented herewith, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. Our critical accounting policies are discussed in MD&A in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

SEASONALITY

Our business can be affected by seasonal fluctuations in the death rate. Generally, the death rate is higher during the winter months because the
incidences of death from influenza and pneumonia are higher during this period than other periods of the year.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

In the ordinary course of business, we are typically exposed to a variety of market risks. Currently, these are primarily related to interest rate risk and
changes in the values of securities associated with the preneed and perpetual care trusts. Management is actively involved in monitoring exposure to market
risk and developing and utilizing appropriate risk management techniques when appropriate and when available for a reasonable price. We are not exposed
to any other significant market risks other than those related to COVID-19 which are described in more detail in Item 1A - Risk Factors below.

The following quantitative and qualitative information is provided about financial instruments to which we are a party at September 30, 2020 and
from which we may incur future gains or losses from changes in market conditions. We do not enter into derivative or other financial instruments for
speculative or trading purposes.

Hypothetical changes in interest rates and the values of securities associated with the preneed and perpetual care trusts chosen for the following
estimated sensitivity analysis are considered to be reasonable near-term changes generally based on consideration of past fluctuations for each risk
category. However, since it is not possible to accurately predict future changes in interest rates, these hypothetical changes may not necessarily be an
indicator of probable future fluctuations.

The following information about our market-sensitive financial instruments constitutes a “forward-looking statement.”

In connection with our preneed funeral operations and preneed cemetery merchandise and service sales, the related funeral and cemetery trust funds
own investments in equity and debt securities and mutual funds, which are sensitive to current market prices. Cost and market values of such investments
as of September 30, 2020 are presented in Item 1, “Condensed Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” Notes 7 and 8 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The sensitivity of the fixed income securities is such that a 0.25% change in interest rates causes an
approximate 1.45% change in the value of the fixed income securities.

We monitor current and forecasted interest rate risk in the ordinary course of business and seek to maintain optimal financial flexibility, quality and
solvency. As of September 30, 2020, we had outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility of $56.0 million. Any further borrowings or voluntary
prepayments against the Credit Facility or any change in the floating rate would cause a change in interest expense. We have the option to pay interest
under the Credit Facility at either prime rate or the LIBOR rate plus a margin. At September 30, 2020, the prime rate margin was equivalent to 2.00% and
the LIBOR rate margin was 3.00%. Assuming the outstanding balance remains unchanged, a change of 100 basis points in our borrowing rate would result
in a change in income before taxes of $0.6 million. We have not entered into interest rate hedging arrangements in the past. Management continually
evaluates the cost and potential benefits of interest rate hedging arrangements.

Our Convertible Notes bear interest at the fixed annual rate of 2.75%. The Convertible Notes do not contain a call feature. At September 30, 2020, the
carrying value of the Convertible Notes on our Consolidated Balance Sheet was $2.5 million and the fair value of the Convertible Notes was $2.9 million
based on the last traded or broker quoted price, as reported by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA)”. Increases in market interest
rates may cause the value of the Convertible Notes to decrease, but such changes will not affect our interest costs.

Our Senior Notes bear interest at the fixed annual rate of 6.625%. We may redeem all or part of the Senior Notes at any time prior to June 1, 2021 ata
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of Senior Notes redeemed, plus a “make whole” premium, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any,
to the date of redemption. We have the right to redeem the Senior Notes at any time on or after June 1, 2021 at the redemption prices described in the
indenture governing the Senior Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption. At September 30, 2020, the carrying value of the
Senior Notes on our Consolidated Balance Sheet was $395.8 million and the fair value of the Senior Notes was $422.3 million based on the last traded or
broker quoted price, as reported by FINRA. Increases in market interest rates may cause the value of the Senior Notes to decrease, but such changes will
not affect our interest costs.

The remainder of our long-term debt and leases consist of non-interest bearing notes and fixed rate instruments that do not trade in a market and do
not have a quoted market value. Any increase in market interest rates causes the fair value of those liabilities to decrease, but such changes will not affect
our interest costs.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Management’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules
and forms, and to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive and principal financial
officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on such evaluation, our principal executive and principal financial
officers concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of September 30, 2020 and that the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly present, in all material respects, our financial condition, results of operations,
and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with US GAAP.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our system of internal control over financial reporting (defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
during the fiscal quarter covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

We and our subsidiaries are parties to a number of legal proceedings that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. While the
outcome of these proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not expect these matters to have a material adverse effect on our financial
statements.

We self-insure against certain risks and carry insurance with coverage and coverage limits for risk in excess of the coverage amounts consistent with
our assessment of risks in our business and of an acceptable level of financial exposure. Although there can be no assurance that self-insurance reserves and
insurance will be sufficient to mitigate all damages, claims, or contingencies, we believe that the reserves and our insurance provides reasonable coverage
for known asserted and unasserted claims. In the event we sustain a loss from a claim and the insurance carrier disputes coverage or coverage limits, we
may record a charge in a different period than the recovery, if any, from the insurance carrier.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Risk Factor Update

In light of the rapidly evolving COVID-19 outbreak, we are also supplementing the risk factors set out under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (the “2019 Form 10-K”) with the new risk factor set out below. The risk factors below
should be read in conjunction with the risk factors set out in our 2019 Form 10-K:

Unfavorable economic conditions, including as a result of health and safety concerns, could adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

Our business and operational results could be adversely affected by general conditions in the U.S. economy, including conditions that are outside of
our control, such as the impact of health and safety concerns from the COVID-19 pandemic. The most recent U.S. and global economic and financial
conditions related to COVID-19 resulted in extreme volatility and disruptions in the capital and credit markets. A severe or prolonged economic downturn,
and the related adverse economic and health consequences could result in a variety of risks to our business, financial condition or results from operations,
including weakened demand from our client families, decreased preneed sales, increased preneed installment contract defaults, increased cremation rates,
reduced access to capital and credit markets or delays in obtaining client family payments. A weak or declining economy could also strain our supply
partners. Additionally, our business relies heavily on our employees, including key employees due to the localized and personal nature of our business, and
adverse events such as health-related concerns, the inability to travel and other matters affecting the general work environment could harm our business. In
the event of a major disruption caused by the outbreak of pandemic diseases such as COVID-19, we may lose the services of a number of our key
employees or experience system interruptions, which could lead to impacts to our regular business operations, inefficiencies and reputational harm. Due to
the uncertainty around the ultimate impact of COVID-19 to our business and operations, the impact on our business and operational results cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time. Any of the foregoing could harm our business and we cannot anticipate all the ways in which the current COVID-19
pandemic and financial market conditions could adversely impact our business.

Covenant restrictions in our debt instruments may limit our flexibility to operate and grow our business, and if we are not able to comply with
such covenants, our lenders could accelerate our indebtedness, proceed against certain collateral or exercise other remedies, which could have a
material adverse effect on us.

The covenants in our Credit Facility and the indenture governing our Senior Notes contain a number of provisions that impose operating and financial
restrictions which, subject to certain exceptions, limit our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to, among other things: incur additional indebtedness
(including guarantees); pay dividends or make distributions or redeem or repurchase our common stock; make investments; grant liens on assets; make
capital expenditures; enter into transactions with affiliates; enter into sale-leaseback transactions; sell or dispose assets; and acquire the assets of, or merge
or consolidate with, other companies.

We are required to comply with certain financial covenants in our Credit Facility. Complying with these financial covenants and other restrictive
covenants, as well as those that may be contained in any future debt agreements, may limit our ability to finance our future operations or working capital
needs or to take advantage of future business opportunities. Our ability to comply with these covenants will depend on our future performance, which may
be affected by events beyond our control. Our failure to comply with any of these covenants or restrictions could result in a default under any future debt
instrument, which could lead to an acceleration of the debt under that instrument and, in some cases, the acceleration of debt under other instruments that
contain cross-default or cross-acceleration provisions, each of which could have a material adverse
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effect on us. In the case of an event of default, or in the event of a cross-default or cross-acceleration, we may not have sufficient funds available to make
the required payments under our debt instruments. If we are unable to repay amounts owed under the terms of our Credit Facility, the lenders thereunder
may choose to exercise their remedies in respect of the collateral, including a foreclosure of their lien which results in a sale of certain of our funeral assets
to satisfy our obligations under the Credit Facility.

Pursuant to the terms of our Credit Facility, we must comply with, amongst other things, a maximum Total Leverage Ratio covenant which is
measured quarterly. If we are unable to comply with the maximum Total Leverage Ratio, we will be in immediate default under the Credit Facility. The
COVID-19 pandemic may have a future impact on our business which could result in our inability to comply with this Total Leverage Ratio covenant and
other covenants in our Credit Facility. There can be no assurance that the lenders will agree to amend the Credit Facility in the future to adjust or eliminate
this covenant or whether the lenders may agree to waive any non-compliance with this financial covenant or any other covenant in the future.

Moreover, if we do not maintain compliance with our continuing obligations or any covenants, terms and conditions of the Credit Facility, we could
be in default and required to repay outstanding borrowings on an accelerated basis, which could subject us to decreased liquidity and other negative impacts
on our business, results of operations and financial condition. It may be difficult for us to find an alternative lending source under these circumstances.
Without access to borrowings under the Credit Facility, our liquidity would be adversely affected and we would lack sufficient working capital to operate
our business as presently conducted. Any disruption in access to credit could force us to take measures to conserve cash.

New or revised tax regulations could have a material effect on our financial statements

New tax laws or regulations could be enacted at any time, and existing tax laws or regulations could be interpreted, amended, or applied in a manner
that has a material effect on us, which could materially impact our business and financial condition. For example, on March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was
enacted in response to the macroeconomic environment conditions posed by COVID-19. The CARES Act is a sweeping stimulus bill intended to bolster
the U.S. economy, among other things, and provide emergency assistance to qualifying businesses and individuals. Based on available guidance, we
anticipate that the legislative changes will have a positive impact on our earnings and cash flow. We have conducted an initial analysis into determining the
impact of the legislative changes on our provision for income taxes. As the enacted legislation includes provisions that would expire after certain periods of
time, the fact that our business has the potential to change its operating situation, and the existence of potential changes by state tax authorities related to
conformity with federal tax regulations, the possibility exists that the future benefit of the legislation could change. In addition, it is uncertain if, and to
what extent, various states will conform to the CARES Act, or any newly enacted or revised federal tax legislation. Under the CARES Act, the primary
areas that should be considered for future earnings and cash impact are the changes to the interest expense limitation threshold and the technical correction
to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act regarding the qualified improvement property now being eligible for full expensing. We continue to work to determine the full
impact that the recent tax legislation as a whole will have on us.

Please also refer to the complete set of Risk Factors under Item 14 in the Company’s 2019 Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 28, 2020, for additional risks and uncertainties to the Company that may have an adverse effect on the Company s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to repurchases of our common stock during the quarter ended September 30, 2020:

Total Number of Dollar Value of
Shares Purchased as Shares That May
Total Number of Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased

Shares Average Price Announced Under the
Period Purchased® Paid Per Share Program Program®
July 1, 2020 - July 31, 2020 — 8 — — 3 25,601,446
August 1, 2020 - August 31, 2020 714 $ 22.97 — 3 25,601,446
September 1, 2020 - September 30, 2020 — 3 — — 25,601,446

Total for quarter ended September 30, 2020 714 —

(1)  Represents shares surrendered by employees to pay taxes withheld upon the vesting of restricted stock awards.
(2) See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional information on our publicly announced share repurchase program.
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Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.
None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

The exhibits required to be filed pursuant to the requirements of Item 601 of Regulation S-K are set forth in the Exhibit Index accompanying this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and are incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CARRIAGE SERVICES, INC.
Date: November 3, 2020 /s/ Viki K. Blinderman
Viki K. Blinderman
Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit No.
*10.1

10.2

*31.1

*31.2

*101.INS

*101.SCH
*101.CAL
*101.LAB
*101.PRE
*101.DEF

*104

@) Filed herewith.

CARRIAGE SERVICES, INC.

INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Description

Limited Consent to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2020, by and among_Carriage Services, Inc.,_the financial
institutions party thereto, as lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer.

K filed on September 4, 2020.

Certification of Periodic Financial Reports by Melvin C. Payne in satisfaction of Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certification of Periodic Financial Reports by Viki K. Blinderman in satisfaction of Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certification of Periodic Financial Reports by Melvin C. Payne and Viki K. Blinderman in satisfaction of Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documents.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

(**) Furnished herewith.
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LIMITED CONSENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS LIMITED CONSENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Consent”), dated as of August 7, 2020, is by and among
CARRIAGE SERVICES, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), the banks listed as Lenders on the signature pages
hereof (the “Lenders”), and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer (in said
capacity as Administrative Agent, the “Administrative Agent”).

BACKGROUND

A. The Borrower, certain of the Lenders, and the Administrative Agent are parties to that certain Credit Agreement, dated as
of May 31, 2018, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2018, that
certain Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2019, that certain Third Amendment and
Commitment Increase to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2019 and that certain Limited Waiver and Fourth
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2020 (said Credit Agreement, as amended, the “Credit
Agreement”; the terms defined in the Credit Agreement and not otherwise defined herein shall be used herein as defined
in the Credit Agreement).

B. The Borrower has advised the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that the Borrower intends to repurchase a portion of
the Existing Convertible Notes outstanding as of the date hereof in one or more transactions (the “Repurchase™). The
Administrative Agent and the Lenders consent to the Repurchase and the Administrative Agent and the Lenders are
willing to do so subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Consent.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants, conditions and agreements hereinafter set forth, and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are all hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto covenant and
agree as follows:

1. LIMITED CONSENT. Subject to the conditions to effectiveness set forth in Section 3 hereof, the Lenders and the
Administrative Agent hereby consent to the consummation of the Repurchase at any time occurring prior to the
maturity of the Existing Convertible Notes and agree that such Repurchase shall not constitute a violation of or
default under the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, notwithstanding anything in any of the Loan
Documents to the contrary. The consent set forth herein is limited to the matter described herein and shall not be
deemed to be a consent or agreement to, or waiver or modification with respect to, any other action, event or
condition, whether similar or dissimilar, nor obligate Administrative Agent or any Lender to grant or agree to any
future consent as to any other action, event or condition, whether similar or dissimilar.

2. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES TRUE; NO EVENT OF DEFAULT. By its execution and delivery
hereof, the Borrower represents and




warrants that, as of the date hereof, and after giving effect to the consent set forth in Section 1 hereof:

a. the representations and warranties contained in the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents that
are subject to materiality or Material Adverse Effect qualifications are true and correct in all respects on
and as of the date hereof as made on and as of such date, and the representations and warranties contained
in the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents that are not subject to materiality or Material
Adverse Effect qualifications are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof as
made on and as of such date, except in each case to the extent that such representations and warranties
specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct as of such earlier date, and
except that the representations and warranties contained in Sections 5.05(a) and (c¢) of the Credit
Agreement shall be deemed to refer to the most recent financial statements furnished pursuant to Sections
6.01(a) and (b), respectively, of the Credit Agreement;

b. no event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes a Default or Event of Default;

C. (i) the Borrower has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Consent, (ii) this Consent has been
duly executed and delivered by the Borrower and (iii) this Consent and the Credit Agreement, as affected
hereby, constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower, enforceable in accordance with
their respective terms, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable Debtor Relief Laws and by
general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding in equity or at
law) and except as rights to indemnity may be limited by federal or state securities laws;

d. neither the execution, delivery and performance of this Consent or the Credit Agreement, as affected
hereby, nor the consummation of any transactions contemplated herein or therein, will conflict with (i) any
Organization Documents of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries, (ii) any Law applicable to the Borrower or its
Subsidiaries or (iii) any Contractual Obligation to which the Borrower, the Subsidiaries or any of their
respective properties are subject; and

e. no authorization, approval, consent, or other action by, notice to, or filing with, any Governmental
Authority or other Person not previously obtained is necessary or required in connection with (i) the
execution, delivery or performance by, or enforcement against, the Borrower of this Consent or (ii) the
acknowledgement by each Guarantor of this Consent.

3. CONDITIONS OF EFFECTIVENESS. All provisions of this Consent shall be effective upon satisfaction of, or
completion of, the following:




a. the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts of this Consent executed by the Borrower, the
Required Lenders and acknowledged by each Guarantor;

b. the representations and warranties set forth in Section 2 of this Consent shall be true and correct; and

c. the Administrative Agent shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent and its counsel, such other documents, certificates and instruments as the Administrative Agent shall
reasonably require.

4. REFERENCE TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT.

a. Upon and during the effectiveness of this Consent, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this
Agreement”, “hereunder”, or words of like import shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement,
as affected by this Consent.

b. Except as expressly set forth herein, this Consent shall not by implication or otherwise limit, impair,
constitute a waiver of, or otherwise affect the rights or remedies of the Administrative Agent or the
Lenders under the Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, and shall not alter, modify,
amend, or in any way affect the terms, conditions, obligations, covenants, or agreements contained in the
Credit Agreement or the other Loan Documents, all of which are hereby ratified and affirmed in all
respects and shall continue in full force and effect.

5. COSTS AND EXPENSES. The Borrower shall be obligated to pay the reasonable out-of-pocket costs and
expenses of the Administrative Agent in connection with the preparation, reproduction, execution and delivery of
this Consent and the other instruments and documents to be delivered hereunder.

6. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This Consent may be executed in any number of counterparts and by
different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to
be an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. For purposes
of this Consent, a counterpart hereof (or signature page thereto) signed and transmitted by any Person party hereto
to the Administrative Agent (or its counsel) by facsimile or other electronic imaging means (e.g., “pdf” or “tif”) is
to be treated as an original. The signature of such Person thereon, for purposes hereof, is to be considered as an
original signature, and the counterpart (or signature page thereto) so transmitted is to be considered to have the
same binding effect as an original signature on an original document.

7. GOVERNING LAW; BINDING EFFECT. This Consent shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
the laws of the State of Texas applicable to




agreements made and to be performed entirely within such state; provided that each party shall retain all rights
arising under federal law. This Consent shall be binding upon the Borrower, the Guarantors, the Administrative
Agent and each Lender and their respective successors and permitted assigns. This Consent is a Loan Document.

8. HEADINGS. Section headings in this Consent are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not
constitute a part of this Consent for any other purpose.

9. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. THE CREDIT AGREEMENT, AS AFFECTED BY THIS CONSENT, AND THE
OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES AS
TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREIN AND HEREIN AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS
BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Consent as of the date above written.

CARRIAGE SERVICES, INC.

By: /s/ Carl Benjamin Brink

Carl Benjamin Brink
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer



BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent By: /s/
Don B. Pinzon

Name: Don B. Pinzon

Title: Vice President



BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Lender, L/C Issuer and
Swing Line Lender By: /s/ Adam Rose

Name: Adam Rose

Title: SVP



REGIONS BANK, as a Lender
By: /s/ Matthew N. Walt

Name: Matthew N. Walt

Title: Director



BBVA USA f/k/a Compass Bank, as a Lender
By: /s/ Tom Brosig

Name: Tom Brosig

Title: Senior Vice President



GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA, as a Lender
By: /s/ Jamie Minieri

Name: Jamie Minieri

Title: Authorized Signatory



VERITEX COMMUNITY BANK, as a Lender
By: /s/ Sam Jarvis

Name: Sam Jarvis

Title: Vice President



RATIFICATION OF GUARANTORS

Each of the undersigned Guarantors hereby (a) acknowledges and consents to the foregoing Consent and the Borrower’s
execution, delivery and performance thereof; (b) joins the foregoing Consent for the purpose of consenting to and being bound by
the provisions thereof; (¢) acknowledges and agrees that its obligations in respect of its Guaranty are not released, diminished,
waived, modified, impaired or affected in any manner by this Consent or any of the provisions contemplated herein; (d) ratifies
and confirms all of its obligations and liabilities under the Loan Documents to which it is a party and ratifies and confirms that
such obligations and liabilities extend to and continue in effect with respect to, and continue to guarantee and secure the
Obligations of the Borrower under the Credit Agreement, as affected pursuant to the terms of the Consent; and (e) acknowledges
and agrees that as of the date of the foregoing Consent, such Guarantor (i) does not have any claim or cause of action against the
Administrative Agent or any Lender (or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneys or other
representatives) under or in connection with its Guaranty and the other Loan Documents to which it is a party and (ii) has no
offsets against, or defenses or counterclaims to, its Guaranty.

The Guarantors:

Carriage Cemetery Services, Inc.

Carriage Cemetery Services of California, Inc.
Carriage Cemetery Services of Idaho, Inc.

Carriage Florida Holdings, Inc.

Carriage Funeral Holdings, Inc. Carriage Funeral Management, Inc.
Carriage Funeral Services of California, Inc.

Carriage Funeral Services of Kentucky, Inc.

Carriage Funeral Services of Michigan, Inc.

Carriage Holding Company, Inc.

Carriage Internet Strategies, Inc.

Carriage Life Events, Inc.

CARRIAGE MANAGEMENT, INC.

Carriage Merger VI, Inc.

Carriage Municipal Cemetery Services of Nevada, Inc.
carriage operations, Inc.

Carriage Pennsylvania Holdings, Inc.

Carriage Services of Connecticut, Inc.
CARRIAGE SERVICES OF LOUISIANA, INC.
Carriage Services of Nevada, Inc.

Carriage Services of New Mexico, Inc.

Carriage Services of Ohio, LLC

Carriage Services of Oklahoma, L.L.C.

Carriage services of tennessee, inc.

Carriage Team California (Cemetery), LLC
Carriage Team California (Funeral), LLC



Carriage Team Florida (Cemetery), LLC

Carriage Team Florida (Funeral), LLC

Carriage Team Kansas, LLC

Cataudella Funeral Home, Inc.

CFS Funeral Services, Inc.

CHC Insurance Agency of Ohio, Inc.

Cloverdale Park, Inc.

Cochrane’s Chapel of the Roses, Inc.

CSI Funeral Services of Massachusetts, Inc.

CSRE HOLDINGS, INC.

Forastiere Family Funeral Service, Inc.

Horizon Cremation Society, Inc.

Hubbard Funeral Home, Inc.

PNCA, INC.

Rolling Hills Memorial Park

Wilson & Kratzer Mortuaries

FAIRFAX MEMORIAL FUNERAL HOME, L.L.C.
CALVARY MEMORIAL PARK, INCORPORATED

By: /s/ Carl Benjamin Brink Carl Benjamin Brink
Treasurer for all



EXHIBIT 31.1
I, Melvin C. Payne, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Carriage Services, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared,

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated:  November 3, 2020 /s/ Melvin C. Payne
Melvin C. Payne
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2
1, Viki K Blinderman, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Carriage Services, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared,

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that

has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: November 3, 2020 /s/ Viki K. Blinderman
Viki K. Blinderman
Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32

Certification of
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
under Section 906 of the
Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. § 1350

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Carriage Services, Inc. (the “Company”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Melvin C. Payne, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Viki K. Blinderman, Senior Vice
President, Principal Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer and Secretary of the Company, each certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: November 3, 2020 /s/ Melvin C. Payne
Melvin C. Payne
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Viki K. Blinderman

Viki K. Blinderman

Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)




